

Commission de la santé mentale du Canada

# Mental Illness-Related Structural Stigma:

The Downward Spiral of Systemic Exclusion Final Report

James D. Livingston, PhD Assistant Professor, Department of Sociology and Criminology, Saint Mary's University, Halifax, Nova Scotia

October 31, 2013

www.mentalhealthcommission.ca

#### **RECOMMENDED CITATION:**

Livingston, J. D. (2013). Mental illness-related structural stigma: The downward spiral of systemic exclusion. Calgary, Alberta: Mental Health Commission of Canada. Retrieved from www.mentalhealthcommission.ca

# MENTAL ILLNESS-RELATED STRUCTURAL STIGMA

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summaryii
Preambleiv
What is Stigma?1
What is Structural Stigma?    5
What does does Structural Stigma look like?    9
Healthcare
Employment and Income
Housing14
Education15
Criminal Justice
Privacy
Public Participation
Travel and Immigration
Media
Reproduction and Parenting
How can Structural Stigma be addressed?
Legal and Political Action
Advocacy
Inclusive Efforts
Healthcare Reform
Education
Research
Closing
References

Production of this document is made possible through a financial contribution from Health Canada. The views represented herein solely represent the views of the Mental Health Commission of Canada.

# EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Increasingly, governments, non-governmental organizations, and private corporations in Canada and around the world are mobilizing resources towards preventing and addressing mental illness-related stigma. The Mental Health Strategy for Canada [1] highlights the need to "fight stigma by including opportunities in promotion, prevention and early intervention initiatives to meet and talk with people living with mental health problems and illnesses" (p. 23) and to "review and, where necessary, update legislation and revise policies across jurisdiction and sectors to achieve alignment with the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities" (p. 45). In addition, the Mental Health Commission of Canada initiated Opening Minds in 2009, which is a systematic effort to reduce stigma related to mental illnesses, with a specific emphasis on healthcare providers, youth, media, and the workforce. At the same time, many Canadian provinces and territories have released long-term mental health plans that identify stigma-reduction as a priority for action [e.g., 2,3,4].

Across multiple life domains, people with mental illnesses must contend with arbitrary restrictions on their rights and opportunities—even in countries with advanced legislative protections against discrimination, such as Canada. Stigma cannot be eradicated without attending to structural stigma; that is, the inequities and injustices that are woven into the policies and practices of our institutional systems. Despite the dearth of empirical evidence about how to address mental illness-related structural stigma effectively, there is a robust body of knowledge offering brilliant ideas about the most promising methods for beginning to break down the structural barriers facing people with mental illnesses.

This report summarizes what is known about mental illness-related structural stigma. It begins with an overview of the concepts of stigma and structural stigma, including how they are understood by contemporary scholars. The report then outlines the different ways in which structural stigma manifests in modern institutional systems and social contexts, including: healthcare; employment and income; housing; education; criminal justice; privacy; public participation; travel and immigration; media; and reproduction and parenting. It is apparent there are few areas of social policy affecting people with mental illnesses that remain untainted by stigma. The final sections of the report synthesize the existing knowledge pertaining to addressing structural stigma. The most promising methods involve a combination of legal and policy action, advocacy, inclusive efforts, healthcare reform, education, and research.

# PREAMBLE

This work was funded by the Mental Health Commission of Canada, which requested that a narrative literature review be conducted on the topic of structural stigma, including: (a) the definition, origins, and nature of structural stigma; (b) examples of how it manifests in today's society; (c) promising avenues for producing structural change to promote greater equity for people with mental illnesses; and (d) specific case examples of systematic change.

The narrative review process began in March 2013 with a comprehensive search of the literature by entering keywords (e.g., structural stigma, institutional stigma, institutional violence, structural discrimination) into several electronic databases (e.g., Web of Knowledge, JSTOR, Google Scholar, CINHAL). Literature pertaining to mental illness, other health conditions (e.g., HIV/AIDS) and disabilities, race/ethnicity, sexuality, gender, and was included. This process generated over 160 relevant articles, books, and reports that were reviewed and synthetized. The report was written deliberately with an emphasis on Canadian examples of structural stigma and efforts to address it.

This is not a best practice document. The recommended strategies contained herein for reducing mental illness-related structural stigma are based primarily on an accumulation of wisdom-based knowledge as opposed to scientifically validated evidence. As such, this report identifies approaches and strategies that, based on a range of information sources (e.g., expert opinions, lived experiences, and research in different contexts), hold promise for effectively addressing structural stigma.

# WHAT IS STIGMA?

As a result of [...] over-arching social and economic circumstances, individuals with schizophrenia are systematically excluded from full participation in civic and social life, and are constrained to live lives that are shaped, in large part, by stigma, isolation, homelessness and the denial of basic human rights. Kelly [5]

Illnesses are comprised of biological, psychological, and social dimensions [6,5,7]. The biological dimension includes features related to genetics, neurochemistry, anatomy, and medical interventions (e.g., medications). It also encompasses the functional impairments and limitations directly created by an illness, such as the inability to see or walk in the case of blindness or paraplegia, respectively. The psychological dimension relates to how people think and feel about themselves and the world around them, which can be affected by an inherent characteristic of an illness (e.g., symptom) or as an indirect response to the illness. For instance, whereas depression directly affects a person's long-term emotional state, living with a physical illness, such as HIV/AIDS or cancer, can have an indirect, but significant, negative effect on an individual's mood. Finally, the social dimension encompasses how illnesses, and the people who live with them, are viewed and dealt with by society. Few would disagree that social, economic, and political forces play a significant role—beyond an individual's biology and psychology—in shaping the health and well-being of people who live with a mental illness.

Stigma is principally a psychological and social phenomenon. It is first and foremost a social process that aims to exclude, reject, shame, and devalue groups of people on the basis of a particular characteristic [8]. Through time, society identifies certain attributes as being socially significant, and collectively defines them as abnormal, unacceptable, and deserving of formal and informal condemnation [9,10]. This is the key for stigma: most socially relevant attributes are not inherently significant or problematic but, rather, through a complex social process they become defined and treated as such. Although stigma may manifest in how people think, feel, and act toward others who are deemed to be different, it is a product of the social context that allows the denigration of difference to exist [11].

Therefore, stigma reveals more about society than it does about individuals who carry stigmatized characteristics or persons who harbour negative beliefs about others. It sheds light on who in society has access to the power and privilege necessary to define rules and apply sanctions for violating them [12,13]—those who do, become the beneficiaries of stigma; those who do not, become its subjects [14]. In turn, the subjects of stigma are redirected on a path where their identities are engulfed, their relationships transformed, and the direction of their lives shifted because they have been marked by a stereotyped attribute [15,11]. The negative effects of stigma are intersecting and cumulative, such that inequities and injustices amass across time, generations, and contexts. For example, a single mother who is denied a job because she lives with a mental illness may, as a consequence, have difficulty finding decent (e.g., affordable, stable, secure, healthy) housing in a safe neighbourhood, which can influence her and her children's' life chances [16]. Undoubtedly, stigma can produce a negative spiralling effect on the life course of people with mental illnesses, which tends to create 'downward social drift', or a decline in social class [17]. Of course, this is not inevitable; many people successfully resist [18,19].

These ideas are reflected in the most influential conceptualization of stigma to date. Drawing from classical labeling theorists in sociology<sup>i</sup>, Link and Phelan [25] define stigma as the process whereby labeling, stereotyping, separation, status loss, and discrimination co-occur in the context of power. Labeling refers to the social process of constructing

See, for instance: [10,20-24]

and applying oversimplified, socially salient categories of human difference. Through this process, labeled persons are believed to be distinctly different. Stereotyping involves cultural endorsement of the association between social labels and undesirable characteristics. In the next component, separating 'us' from 'them', persons bearing a stereotyped label are set apart and isolated from the rest of society. Thus, a "stigmatized them" is created [25]. The preceding components can then lead to devaluation, rejection, and exclusion of certain groups, which creates social disadvantage and loss of social status.

It is important to highlight three aspects of the framework advanced by Link and Phelan [25] and embraced by the current report. First, the construct of stigma encompasses both status loss and discrimination. Although some scholars prefer to distinguish between stigma and discrimination [e.g., 26,27], a sociologically-informed definition of stigma blends the attitudinal and behavioural dimensions. Maintaining a division between stigma and discrimination does not make sense when stigma is framed in a non-individualistic, multi-dimensional, and multi-level manner grounded in a common understanding of the concept. Second, the production of stigma is contingent on social, economic, and political power [25]. Privileged groups maintain their advantage and authority in society by using stigma as a tool to prevent others from gaining access to power and resources [28]. Third, and relatedly, stigma spans micro- and macro-levels [29,30]<sup>a</sup>. As such, it is useful to think about stigma as existing on three interacting and mutually reinforcing levels: self, social, and structural [33,11,34].

Self-stigma exists at the individual level and involves the perceptions and experiences of those who possess stigmatized attributes. Individuals with stereotyped characteristics, such as a mental illnesses, are socialized into believing that they are devalued members of society, which leads to adopting negative feelings about self, engaging in maladaptive behaviour, and identity transformation [35]. Individuals who feel devalued have a tendency to modify their social expectations such that they settle into their low social position; they may not seek to advance their social status (either through education or work) or they may be reluctant to challenge the barriers standing in their way to a better life [36,37]. Research indicates that mental illness-related self-stigma is associated with hopelessness, poorer self-esteem, disempowerment, reduced self-efficacy, and decreased quality of life [35].

Social stigma exists at the group level and refers to community members who judge particular traits to be contrary to community norms and behave in a harmful manner, either through action or inaction, towards individuals who possess the devalued attribute [38,33,39]. It is produced by the individual and collective beliefs of dominant members of society, from which the rules of engagement take shape and acceptable ways of behaving toward oppressed groups are defined [28]. It is expressed behaviourally during interpersonal interactions, which is why the terms 'individual' and 'interpersonal' discrimination are often used to describe this form of stigma [29,25]. Social stigma provides fertile ground for the production of self- and structural stigma. For instance, an individual who believes that all people with schizophrenia are dangerous may be disinclined to befriend anyone with a mental illness (contributing to self-stigma) and may be supportive of coercive mental health interventions (contributing to structural stigma). Scholars of racism and sexual prejudice have observed that social stigma in modern society is more likely to be expressed subtly (also known as aversive racism or modern prejudice), since there is growing social pressure against overt and blatant forms of prejudice and discrimination [40,41]. Research examining the experiences of people with mental illnesses has also documented these subtle, yet significant, forms of stigma that unfold in different social contexts such as the workplace [e.g., 42].

Although this report is principally focused on mental illness, it is important to recognize the relevance of a broad range of characteristics and statuses to which stigma theories have been applied. Many scholars believe that exclusionary processes produced by race/ethnicity, gender, age, class, sexual orientation, and different types of disabilities share

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>®</sup>Other conceptual models that provide a framework to link stigma at micro- and macro-levels include the Ecological Approach to Stigma [31] and the Framework Integrating Normative Influences of Stigma [32].

similarities with the stigmatization of mental illnesses [43,28]. Non-dominant groups in society share histories of systematic oppression, segregation, denial of basic human rights, and depletion of social, economic, and political resources. In Canada, for example, there is a striking resemblance between the historic treatment and current realities of Aboriginal peoples and persons who live with a mental illness in that both groups have been subjected to systematic and direct discrimination, social dislocation, and poor social and economic conditions [44].

In addition to sharing commonalities, it is clear that stigmatized characteristics and statuses do not act in isolation. Every individual is comprised of multiple attributes (i.e., race, gender, disability status, and so on) that work together to influence a person's formation of identity, subjective experiences, and life chances [45-47]. A revealing study of almost 1,000 individuals with psychiatric disabilities in the Unites States found that many had perceived discrimination based on factors other than their mental illness. For instance, 66% of African American respondents reported racial discrimination, 34% of female respondents perceived gender-based discrimination, 83% of gay respondents reported discrimination owing to their sexual orientation, and 49% of physically disabled respondents indicated that they had been discriminated against because of their physical disability [48]. Therefore, it is important to consider multiple dimensions of inequity in any discussion about mental illness-related stigma, especially since people who experience racism, sexism, classism, and so on are at risk for experiencing poor mental health [8]. Additionally, mental illnesses commonly co-occur with other stigmatized traits, such as being economically disadvantaged, institutionalized, or having substance use problems. Research indicates that living with a mental illness amplifies existing power inequities created by the intersection of gender, race, and class [49].

A distinctive feature of disabilities is that, unlike race/ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, or other attributes, they can cause impairment. Mental illnesses, for example, have deleterious effects on cognition, social relations, and functioning, which can exert harmful effects across multiple life domains. A person with schizophrenia may be unable to form and maintain friendships because of symptoms that increase social withdrawal and decrease motivation. Alternatively, a person with an anxiety disorder may have difficulty working because uncontrollable fear or worry gets in the way of completing tasks. Stigma exacerbates the impairment-related restrictions that are imposed on persons with disabilities [50,34]—a point that is elucidated by the social model of disability. This model, also known as the disability inclusion model, advances the view that disability arises through the interaction between individual impairment and the barriers located in the social environment (e.g., attitudinal or structural) preventing participation as a full citizen in society [51,52]. The idea that stigma is created and sustained by disabling environments is pertinent to the following discussion on the topic of structural stigma. Mental illnesses are also unlike other physical or sensory disabilities in that they often become a master status [10]; that is, a person's identity is engulfed by their illness, which dictates how they are perceived and treated by society. So, people with mental illnesses who protest against instances of structural stigma risk having their resistance disregarded, silenced, and pathologized (e.g., 'she's angry because she's not taking her medications', or 'his personality disorder causes him to act out') [52].

# WHAT IS STRUCTURAL STIGMA?

The policies and institutional practices we create to address social problems are critical for stigma – they can induce it or they can minimize or even block it.

Link et al. [47]

Scholars in the field of ethnic/racial and gender studies have produced much of what is known—empirically, conceptually, and theoretically—about structural stigma. In the context of mental illness, structural stigma refers to the rules, policies, and practices of social institutions that arbitrarily restrict the rights of, and opportunities for, people with mental illnesses [53,54]. In this form of stigma, dominant cultural ideology is embodied in institutional systems so that power differentials are legitimated and social disadvantages are perpetuated [33,11,55].

Inequities and injustices are woven into the fabric of society causing people with mental illnesses to have unequal access to social, economic, and political resources and power [56,57]. In turn, society becomes designed by and for people without mental illnesses. With time, stigmatizing institutional policies and practices become the norm by which society operates. Once this occurs, stigma is no longer dependent on individual action; instead, disadvantage and exclusion are routinely perpetrated by institutional systems [58]. Structural stigma is reinforced in law, internal regulations and procedures of private and public institutional systems, and the practices of professionals [59,60]. These structures conspire to preserve dominant ideologies and maintain social hierarchies [61].

Structural stigma can be intentional or unintentional [62,29,63]<sup>III</sup>. Intentional structural stigma requires conscious and purposeful effort to restrict the rights and opportunities of people with mental illnesses. This can be overt, such as policies that disqualify people from health insurance coverage because of having a mental illness. Alternatively, it can be covert, in which case institutions deliberately use a criterion that is strongly correlated with mental illness (i.e., a proxy) to deny equal opportunities to people with mental illnesses [63]. An example of this would be organizations who deny jobs or volunteer opportunities to individuals who have a police record, knowing that the practice causes unequal harm for people with mental illnesses who routinely use the police to access emergency mental health services. Covert structural stigma might also take the form of institutional leaders who fail to mitigate known inequities and injustices [64]. An example would be police officials who continue to support the disclosure of mental health-related information (e.g., mental health apprehensions, suicide attempts) on routine police or criminal record checks after becoming aware that such a practice arbitrarily limits the life opportunities of people with mental illnesses, such as obstructing volunteer and employment opportunities.

Unintentional structural stigma produces inequities for people with mental illnesses through inadvertent means [65]. Usually, this occurs because of people with mental illnesses being disproportionately represented in certain groups who find themselves the subject of a given social policy. For instance, 'tough on crime reforms' that impose harsher sentences for less serious offences (e.g., drug offences) will have disproportionate effects on people with mental illnesses because of the prevalence of concurrent mental health and substance use problems. Some scholars argue that unintentional forms of structural stigma are actually contemporary reformulations of past policies and practices that were designed to intentionally stigmatize [66]. Hence, structural stigma is rooted in historical practices that produce a "legacy of disparity" [39], with disadvantage reproducing across time and over generations. For example, people with

Some scholars prefer to distinguish between institutional and structural stigma on the basis of intent, with the later construct used to describe unintentional effects [e.g., 29].

mental illnesses who were intentionally segregated from society through institutionalization remain so today through economic and social policies that keep them from becoming full members of the community.

It is worth highlighting a few things about unintentional forms of structural stigma. Firstly, although it is pervasive in society, it is quite difficult to detect and document, since it hides in the shadows and lacks overt intentionality [65]. In order to expose the reasons why people with mental illnesses experience injustices and inequities in contemporary society, multiple layers of stigmatizing social policies and institutional practices must be peeled back and connected. Scholars often cite the fact that many of today's restrictions of the rights and opportunities of people with mental illnesses are the consequence of a legacy of underfunded research and treatment for mental illnesses, relative to other health conditions [67,68], combined with modern preoccupations with cost-effectiveness in healthcare. Secondly, unintentional structural stigma can convert into an intentional form once its harmful effects become known and are not rectified by institutional leaders, such as policy-makers or healthcare planners [63]. Thirdly, intentionality is not required to support claims of discrimination. As such, legal redress can be sought for instances of unintentional structural stigma.

In a thoughtful discussion about sexual stigma and gay marriage, Herek [69] makes an important observation about structural stigma. Laws do not magically appear. Rather, they are negotiated through a social process that often involves dialogue between politicians, lobbyists, and the public—sometimes broadcast by the media. For those who are the subjects of structural stigma, this democratic process reveals, first, that their fellow citizens and elected representatives endorse stigmatizing views; second, that their fundamental rights are open for debate; and third, that they have relatively limited power to resist the dominant ideology. Moreover, although a particular law may be bounded by jurisdiction (for instance, gun control regulations concerning people with mental illnesses in the United States have no direct impact on Canadians), the social discourse surrounding the social problem spills across jurisdictional boundaries. Consequently, the existence of mental illness-related structural stigma anywhere is a global threat to an individual's sense of worth and personal security.

Not all policies and practices that restrict the rights and opportunities of people with mental illnesses are instances of structural stigma. Some restrictions and distinctions may be justified, as was observed by the BC Human Rights Tribunal: "Not every differentiation in treatment arising due to a person's mental disability, real or perceived, will be sufficient to establish discrimination [...] In some cases, differentiation in treatment is necessary in order to address people's real needs and circumstances" [70]. It may be appropriate to suspend the driver's licence of an individual living with a condition, such as moderate dementia, that is significantly impairing their cognitive abilities. Or, it may be justifiable to apprehend and hospitalize a person who is suffering from a condition, such as acute psychosis, that is causing them to behave violently towards others. How can these scenarios be differentiated from those considered cases of structural stigma?

Arbitrariness is the key criterion for structural stigma. As was articulated by the Supreme Court of Canada's Justice Abella in a case involving job accommodations for an individual with a disability: "It is the link between that group membership and the arbitrariness of the disadvantaging criterion or conduct, either on its face or in its impact, that triggers the possibility of a remedy. And it is the claimant who bears this threshold burden" [71, para. 49]. Structural stigma is likely to involve policies or practices that curtail a right or deny an opportunity based on broad categories, such as current or past diagnosis of a mental illness, rather than specific and measurable criteria based on individualized assessments of impairment, capacity, or risk. As well, it is likely to surface when restrictions are imposed on multiple life domains and social contexts, rather than on a specific activity for a circumscribed duration. Scholars have proposed a series of questions to ascertain whether a practice or policy exemplifies structural stigma [62,72,38,73]:

- Does the institutional practice/policy contravene provisions of existing human rights statutes?
- How broad/specific is the criteria being used to restrict persons' rights or opportunities?
- How broad/specific is the domain that is being restricted?
- Are public and private institutions making reasonable efforts to assist individuals (e.g., providing services or supports) to enjoy access to the full range of rights and opportunities?
- To what extent will the restriction remain in place when the impairment diminishes?
- Do alternative methods (e.g., less restrictive or less onerous) exist that may be equally, or more, effective at achieving the same outcomes?
- Would the stigmatizing institutional practice/policy be rejected by those who may be affected?
- What is the nature and scope of harm (e.g., social isolation, health or economic inequalities) that will be produced by the institutional practice/policy in comparison to its expected benefits?

Answering these questions may be useful when preparing to raise a complaint because of mental illness-related structural stigma. The problem is that different people will likely arrive at different conclusions. For instance, determining whether an employer is making reasonable efforts to accommodate an employee depends on an individual's perception of reasonableness. Clearly, the ideology endorsed by an individual, as well as the dominant ideology in society, will exert a significant influence on their readiness to perceive structural stigma when it materializes.

The most common way in which structural stigma is expressed is in the realm of professional practices. A series of studies examining instances of institutional discrimination related to HIV/AIDS found few occurrences in legislation and policy; however, discrimination was relatively common in the unwritten procedures and practices of health service providers [74]. The existence of stigmatizing practices among health professionals is certainly echoed in research that taps into the perceptions and experiences of people with mental illnesses (as is discussed later). At this point, it should be acknowledged that not all scholars agree that the attitudes and behaviours of trainees (e.g., medical students, police cadets) and professionals are rightly placed in the 'structural' level of stigma. Certainly, the poor behaviour of a few professionals (e.g., psychiatrists, employers, police officers) should not be conceptualized as structural stigma. However, if the unfair practices of professionals in any institutional system are recurring (i.e., not isolated events), symptomatic of problems within organizational culture, tolerated or condoned by organizational leaders, and/or not rectified despite known problems, then they are indicative of structural stigma [29,59,75].

# WHAT DOES STRUCTURAL STIGMA LOOK LIKE?

Canada has promised the creation of an egalitarian society, but it has systematically excluded, marginalized, and segregated its citizens with disabilities.

Kaiser [76], s. 7, para. 1

Stigma has been compared to a many-headed hydra, a Greek mythological creature, on account of its fierce ability to appear and reappear in a multitude of social domains [77]. The empirical and observational literature reveals that few areas of social policy remain untainted by the effects of stigma. People with mental illnesses are—to varying degrees—rejected, excluded, and devalued in the policies and practices of most institutional systems, such as healthcare, employment, social welfare, and housing.

Researchers have employed a range of approaches to study the nature and magnitude of structural stigma. The first approach is to survey members of the public to ascertain their willingness to endorse social policies or political decisions that are likely to curtail or advance specific rights and opportunities for people with mental illnesses. For instance, researchers have examined public support for policies that would prohibit driving licences, withdraw voting rights, or recommend terminating a pregnancy for people with mental illnesses [78]. Studies have also assessed public preferences for coercive and benevolent legislation and treatment practices, such as involuntary hospitalization, targeting people with mental illnesses [79]. Along a similar vein, surveys have investigated public support for increasing or reducing funding levels targeted toward mental healthcare [80,81].

The utility of this body of attitudinal research is that it gives insight into community members' perspectives on issues of public policy. In turn, this provides an approximation as to which political decisions might be likely to receive widespread support or opposition. The limitation of this research is that survey respondents may respond to questions in a socially desirable manner, which provides an underestimate of the magnitude of stigma that exists in society. As well, this research typically does not account for the degree to which participants are involved in the political process (e.g., vote in elections) or have the ability to influence policy-makers [82]. The presumption is that individual members of society have an equal opportunity to influence policy decisions, which does not reflect the hierarchical structure of power in society. In every democratic society, individuals with resources and power have an increased likelihood of influencing social policy; therefore, it may be that ascertaining the perspectives of these powerful few is especially important for this line of research.

A second way in which structural stigma has been studied is through policy analysis. In this type of research, the actual content of policies and statutes is scrutinized in order to uncover instances of (or protections from) structural stigma. This is a common approach that has been used to investigate discrimination pertaining to persons with HIV/AIDS [83,74]. With respect to mental illness, Corrigan and colleagues [54] reviewed almost 1,000 mental health-related bills across the United States for evidence of structural stigma. They found that structural stigma was uncommon in State legislation, with 3% of bills constricting liberties (e.g., permitting involuntary medication or compulsory community treatment), 1% promoting discrimination (e.g., restricting access to firearms, diminishing parental rights, restricting placement of mental health facilities), and 4% reducing privacy (e.g., allowing disclosure of mental health information for the purpose of public safety). Proactive protections against stigma were also scarce within the mental health bills, with 1% expanding liberties (e.g., creating options for advance directives), 1% protecting against discrimination (e.g., requiring parity mental health funding, disallowing parental mental health status to be used in child custody decisions), and 6% expanding privacy rights (e.g., prohibiting the disclosure of mental health information).

One of the most important findings of the Corrigan et al. [54] study was that the majority of bills expanding or contracting protections were based on a person's status of having a mental illness (e.g., past or present diagnosis), rather than the level of cognitive capacity or degree of functional impairment. Several scholars have underscored the fact that treating people with mental illnesses as though they are a homogeneous group, regardless of their levels of functional or cognitive impairment, is an example of structural stigma since it is clearly unjustifiable [54,84,85]. The advantage of this research approach is that it relies on an objective data source to reveal the overt presence of stigma within current social policy. The major weakness is that it grossly underestimates the pervasiveness of structural stigma, since research repeatedly indicates that stigma is more likely to materialize in institutional practices, usually guided by unwritten customs or procedures, rather than enshrined in policy [83].

The most common approach for investigating structural stigma has been the use of interviews, surveys, and focus groups to examine the experiences of people with mental illnesses and their associates, such as friends, relatives, and service providers [e.g., 86]. This research taps into subjective perceptions of stigma that can be attributed to social structures and policy. For example, Stuart and colleagues [87], found that almost half (44%) of a sample of Canadian mental health service users reported that they had been treated unfairly or had their rights denied because of their mental illness. Similarly, a survey of roughly 700 Americans with psychiatric disabilities revealed that one-quarter to one-half of participants reported experiencing mental illness-related discrimination within a variety of institutional systems, including employment (52%), housing (32%), mental health services (28%), law enforcement (27%), and education (24%) [48].

Whereas these studies report on the actual stigmatizing experiences of people with mental illnesses, some research suggests that it is the anticipation of structural stigma, such as the fear of involuntary treatment or of receiving inadequate medical care, that may be especially problematic for people with mental illnesses [e.g., 88]. For instance, a study in Poland found that almost half of a sample of people with schizophrenia anticipated structural stigma, while only 6% reported an actual experience considered to be structural stigma [89]. Research also indicates that a large share of the stigma that is reported by people with mental illnesses concerns direct interactions with others (i.e., at an individual or interpersonal level), rather than at the level of structural imbalances and injustices [90]. Herein lies the difficulty with this type of self-report research: structural stigma often is absent from view and may not be perceived by those whom it oppresses. In general, people are more likely to attribute their bad hand in life to factors that are immediate and directly observable, rather than a complex web of invisible social forces. Structural stigma is difficult to detect and study because it is "buried beneath layers of rules and regulations" [91].

Bearing in mind the way that structural stigma is conceptualized in this report, as well as the different traditions that have been used to study it, the following sections highlight the ways in with structural stigma manifests in ten different institutional systems and social contexts: healthcare, employment and income, housing, education, criminal justice, privacy, public participation, travel and immigration, media, and reproduction and parenting.

#### Healthcare

The healthcare system is consistently identified as a significant contributor to structural stigma related to mental illness as well as other stereotyped health conditions such as HIV/AIDS [31] and addictions [92]. Although many people with mental illnesses receive the help and support they need from dedicated healthcare professionals, the healthcare system is also a place where people encounter unfairness and injustice [93]. The primary ways in which mental illness-related structural stigma manifests in the healthcare system are through insufficient funding of mental health services and research, the coercive philosophy of care that underpins the delivery of mental health services, and the unprofessional practices of mental health professionals.

Insufficient funding. Mental illnesses have been systematically deprioritized in the allocation of healthcare funding [56,94,32,95,96]. As a result, many people with mental illnesses have poor access to substandard care that does not meet their needs—an experience considered by many to be the most damaging form of stigma [91,86]. For instance, individuals might be able to access short-term mental health services during times of crisis, but not during other times of need. Or, cheaper medications may be made available to people with mental illnesses, rather than comparatively newer, more expensive, and more effective medications that carry fewer side effects [75,97]. As well, people with mental illnesses might have access to pharmacological interventions, but not other forms of care known to be equally or more effective, such as psychological therapies [84]. Public and private health insurance plans may provide insufficient coverage for mental healthcare compared to that which is provided for physical illnesses [e.g., 98]. Gaining access to appropriate mental healthcare often carries a significant financial cost that people with mental illnesses and their families simply cannot afford [86].

Although many gaps in the public mental health system are filled by services offered by non-governmental and consumer organizations, these essential services subsist on fragmented and temporary forms of funding. Clearly, the ineffectiveness of such a mental healthcare system places people with mental illness at a disadvantage by reducing their choices, hindering their recovery, and placing them at risk for a host of negative outcomes (e.g., victimization, medical problems, etc.). It also reinforces the belief that mental illnesses either cannot be treated or require coercive forms of care such as involuntary hospitalization. Kelly [99] contends that the absence of an effective mental healthcare system represents an "unfreedom" (p. 2112) preventing people with mental illnesses from achieving other forms of freedom such as full participation in social and political life. For other health conditions, such a poor quality system of care would not be tolerated [62], highlighting the devaluation of mental illnesses by society, which translates into systematic inequities in the distribution of healthcare resources.

Related to the inadequate funding levels for services and supports, scholars in Canada, the United States, and Australia have also observed that mental health research is deprioritized in the allocation of scientific funding [100-103]. In spite of the fact that mental illnesses exert a tremendous cost and burden on society, researchers who study mental health issues receive relatively less money than their colleagues who study other diseases. For instance, a recent study in Australia found that mental health research received lower levels of funding than most other health conditions (e.g., cancer, cardiovascular disease), mental health research was underfunded relative to its disease burden, and that the increase in research funding for mental health has not kept pace with the growth in research funding for other health conditions [104]. This inequitable distribution of research funding is problematic since it leads to an underdeveloped body of scientific evidence from which decisions pertaining to mental health policy and services are made. Improving this situation may require attracting more students and researchers to the mental health field in order to build up workforce capacity in mental health research [104].

Coercive underpinnings. Across Canada, mental health statutes tend to focus on involuntary interventions (i.e., medications, community treatment, or hospitalization) that are designed to curtail the rights and freedoms of people with mental illnesses [105]. In fact, the provincial/territorial Mental Health Acts are a misnomer, as they rarely speak to obligations of the government to ensure the mental health of its citizens [106]. This legislation is intended to serve a protective function, such as safeguarding individuals from causing harm to themselves or others; however, rather than being applicable to all members of society who pose such threats, it creates a special class of citizen by targeting people with mental illnesses. One must ask why society is willing to use coercive preventive measures for people with mental illnesses but not for other groups of citizens [107,52].

Some argue that such legislation perpetuates the idea that people with mental illness are inherently different from others (i.e., a greater risk to public safety) and are less deserving of fundamental human rights [108,52]— especially because it disproportionately affects the most disadvantaged and vulnerable members of society [109]. Moreover, this legislative framework clearly delineates those who occupy positions of power (i.e., mental health service providers) and those who do not (i.e., people with mental illnesses), and conflates the social control and treatment functions of the mental health system [96]. It is known that the coercive underpinnings of mental health services can be a strong deterrent from seeking help for mental health issues [110,111]. Structural stigma manifests in the failure of governments to counterbalance these coercive interventions by offering high-quality, voluntary mental health services; providing ready access to legal advocacy services; and rigorously assessing the degree to which these practices and policies are achieving their desired effects (e.g., improving quality of life) relative to their collateral consequences (e.g., diminishing treatment engagement).

(Un)Professional practices. People with mental illnesses and their families routinely report that the attitudes and behaviours of health and mental health professionals exacerbate their experiences with stigma [42,7,56,112]. In the health system, people with mental illnesses who seek treatment for physical ailments may be ignored or rejected. Professionals in the mental health system may engage in other practices that contribute to stigma, such as failing to provide patients/clients with information about their illness and treatment (e.g., side effects), using legal leverages and coercion to gain treatment compliance, tolerating the routine application of dehumanizing practices (e.g., seclusion, strip searches, physical restraints), excluding people with mental illnesses from the treatment process, and adopting a paternalistic stance towards people with mental illnesses [75,42]. Additionally, people with mental illnesses are subjected to intrusions on their private lives by health and social service professionals in ways that would not be acceptable for treating people with other health conditions. The fact that people with mental illnesses in numerous studies report these experiences across multiple settings signifies that they are systematic and structural problems, as opposed to isolated or rare occurrences.

#### Employment and Income

People with mental illnesses routinely encounter barriers to obtaining and maintaining employment [56,84,51,113]. Rates of unemployment are extremely high among people with mental illnesses. Those who do find work tend to be relegated to jobs that offer lower levels of compensation and fewer opportunities for advancement [114]. Evidence indicates that mental illness-related stigma exerts a negative effect on an individual's ability to participate in the workforce that operates independent of the difficulties caused by functional impairments and skills deficits [115]. Three ways that structural stigma surfaces in the employment and income contexts are through refusal to hire, failure to accommodate, and disincentive to work [116].

Refusal to hire. Most people will not disclose that they have a mental illness to a prospective employer. They know that sharing such information is likely to have a negative impact on being hired. Employers are typically not allowed to ask questions about whether or not someone has a disability or health condition; however, employers might inquire about other proxy indicators that signal whether or not an applicant is living with a mental illness. For example, many job application forms continue to ask questions pertaining to whether or not an applicant has ever received, or is currently receiving, mental health treatment [117]. Individuals with mental illnesses who have been hospitalized or received a disability pension may be asked by employers to explain lengthy gaps in their employment record. Moreover, most occupations today require applicants to provide criminal record checks, which can flag those who have been apprehended by police for mental health reasons

(i.e., mental health emergency, suicide attempt). Therefore, an encounter with police, regardless of whether or not it was criminal in nature, may be used to deny people with mental illnesses from entering the workforce. Because people with mental illness encounter the police more frequently than those without mental illness, such hiring practices disproportionately affect applicants with mental illnesses. Although laws exist to protect people with mental or physical disabilities from discrimination, hiring decisions—especially in the private sector—are cloaked in mystery. Proving that a hiring decision was based solely on a person's mental illness is a task of herculean proportions requiring an enormous amount of time and resources. Substantial numbers of job-seeking persons with disabilities are unlikely to have access to the financial or emotional resources needed to embark on such a fight.

Failure to accommodate. People with mental illnesses may require certain accommodations in the workplace, such as alterations to their work environment (e.g., reducing distractions), a flexible work schedule, additional feedback on their performance, or unpaid leaves. Employers are legally required to make reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities. In spite of this, organizations fail to offer accommodations to employees with mental illnesses [84]. Additionally, workplaces can be unsafe spaces for people to disclose that they have a mental illness and require accommodations. People with mental illnesses fear being fired or otherwise treated unfairly, including being denied promotions or relegated to less rewarding tasks [42]. Employers and professional regulatory bodies may also place individuals who reveal that they have a mental illness under extreme scrutiny. For example, in a case heard by the BC Human Rights Tribunal, a lawyer, who disclosed that he had previously received psychiatric treatment, was required to submit to excessive and intrusive examinations and investigations about his mental competence by the Law Society of British Columbia [118]. The tribunal ruled that the Law Society acted in a discriminatory manner based on a perceived mental disability and order them to pay \$100,000 to the complainant for legal expenses, injury to dignity, and lost wages.

Disincentive to work. When people receive disability benefits, the amount of income that they are allowed to receive through employment may be capped. This means that individuals who earn more than a given amount through employment (e.g., \$500 per month) will have their disability benefits reduced or terminated, regardless of the precariousness of their job situation or their recovery. Although this social policy is intended to prevent people who are capable of working from claiming disability benefits, it also establishes a strong disincentive for people with mental illness to seek opportunities for competitive employment. Disability benefits barely cover basic living expenses (food, shelter, clothing, etc.), so individuals may look to supplement their income out of necessity. This can be considered a form of structural stigma because it, in effect, reinforces a person's economic dependence on the State and prevents them acquiring a decent standard of living [51].

#### Housing

The closure of large psychiatric institutions combined with medical advancements has resulted in more people with mental illnesses being able to live in the community. Finding safe, stable, decent, affordable housing can be made difficult by living with a mental illness [84,119]. Landlords may refuse to rent to people with mental illnesses and/or those who are receiving disability benefits. This is illustrated in a case of the BC Human Rights Tribunal that involved a man with recurring mental illness who was denied an apartment on the basis of receiving a disability pension as a primary source of income [120]. The tribunal found that the property owner acted in a discriminatory manner toward someone based on a disability and order the landlord to pay \$1,000 to the complainant for the injury to his dignity.

Housing may be unaffordable for a proportion of people with mental illnesses whose income is limited by the fact that they are unable to work because of their impairments. There is a lack of available affordable housing in many communities. Indeed, the expansion of affordable and supported housing in the community has not kept pace with

the contraction of institutional mental healthcare. Moreover, the policies and practices of housing services may be unsuitable for people with mental illnesses. For instance, they may be overly paternalistic, unpleasant, unsupportive, and force residents to partake in unwanted interventions. Eligibility criteria for housing may require medication compliance, abstinence from alcohol or substance use, or attendance in addiction treatment [121,122]. Therefore, substantial numbers of people with mental illness find themselves living in unstable situations with family or friends, or in deplorable and dangerous conditions.

Housing designed for people with mental illnesses sometimes faces fierce community opposition and discriminatory zoning laws [123]. Therefore, housing that is affordable and/or offers support services tends to be located in communities that are geographically segregated and socially disorganised—systematically channelling people with mental illness into neighbourhoods that place them at greater risk of social isolation, victimization, disease, and other stressful life situations [124-126,52]. Indeed, disparities in income and wealth combined with other forms of structural stigma have a significant influence on housing choices for people with mental illness.

## Education

As established in numerous conventions and declarations of the United Nations, equitable access to education is a basic human right [127]. For people with mental illnesses, the educational system can be a place where they confront significant barriers. Research has demonstrated that poor mental health is associated with poor educational attainment, termination of schooling, and not entering or graduating from university [128,129,127]. Of course, the impairments directly created by mental illness are major contributors to poor educational outcomes for children, youth, and adults with mental illnesses. However, the policies and practices of educational systems—at all levels—either create or fail to mitigate barriers that stand in the way of achieving a formal education. This creates long-term, far-reaching disadvantages in employment, financial security, social functioning, and health and well-being [72].

Structural stigma may surface as insufficient funding for services to support students with mental illnesses, failure to provide reasonable accommodations, segregation from mainstream classrooms, or exclusion from activities/ opportunities offered to students without mental illnesses [84,52]. An illustration of this is an incident involving a university student in British Columbia with recurring depression who had an acute episode during which she attempted to jump through a plate glass window. She returned to school after her recovery and was denied access to property that was customarily available to other students (e.g., keys for a computer lab, a rating sheet required for a hospital internship application). The BC Human Rights Tribunal ruled that the student had been discriminated against by the school on the basis of her mental disability [130].

Similar to problems that arise in the workplace, students with mental illnesses who are applying to post-secondary school programs can be questioned about, and subsequently denied opportunities because of, gaps in their transcripts related to the time taken to recover from mental health issues [131]. In some educational systems, access to mental health assessment and treatment services is excessively delayed, leading to extensive interruptions in students' education [131]. Moreover, compared to students with physical disabilities, those with mental illnesses may have more difficulty obtaining necessary accommodations, such as alternative methods of testing, extensions of assignments, and additional support—owing to either institutional policies that fail to recognize the needs of people with mental illnesses or educators' negative responses toward students having trouble related to mental illnesses. As such, problems that arise because of a mental illness, such as behavioural issues or absences from school, may be responded to with skepticism, scrutiny, and disciplinary action rather than support and accommodation.

## Criminal Justice

People with mental illnesses are grossly over-represented in the criminal justice system [132]. Although there are a number of explanations for the high rates of mental illnesses in the criminal justice system, there is consensus that structural biases and social inequities play a large role. Indeed, the factors that shape mental health are generally the same as those that influence crime; for example, poverty; unemployment; lack of education; poor living conditions; and inequitable access to wealth, power, and resources [133,134].

As such, structural stigma that materializes in other life domains (e.g., unequal access to employment or educational opportunities) can place people with mental illnesses at risk for coming into conflict with the law. For instance, deficiencies in the health and social service systems contribute to the transformation and use of criminal justice processes (e.g., arrest, criminal charges, and convictions) and agents (e.g., police, judges, and probation officers) as a means for gaining access to mental health services. The proliferation of specialized police teams, courts, and correctional services for people with mental illnesses are telltale signs of deep-rooted social problems that have channelled certain citizens into criminal justice services. Conversely, people with mental illnesses who have been victimized are systematically denied protection by the justice system, with some reporting that their claims are not believed by police and prosecutors [27,135]. Therefore, some people with mental illnesses are reluctant to seek assistance from criminal justice officials.

Once people with mental illnesses enter the criminal justice system, they get entrenched in structural stigma. Having a mental illness makes it more difficult to be granted parole [136,137], and to succeed in the community under correctional supervision [138]. Some of these problems have been attributed to the substandard mental health and social services available to people with mental illnesses in correctional settings and in the community. For instance, inmates without access to appropriate mental health and substance use services in jail or prison may be more likely to be charged with breaking institutional rules or involved in a verbal or physical altercation, all of which reduce their chances of succeeding in requests for temporary absences and parole. Compounding this problem is the fact that inmates with mental illnesses may also be denied parole because appropriate mental health and substance use services do not exist to support them in the community.

There is also reason to believe that criminal justice professionals, such as police, judges, and correctional officers [139] routinely endorse negative stereotypes about people with mental illnesses (i.e., that mental illness alone is a significant risk factor for violent and criminal behaviour), which then affects policy and practice. For example, people with mental illnesses on probation tend to be subjected to supervision that is more intensive and monitoring compared with their counterparts without mental illnesses. Additionally, the presence of mental illness appears to lower probation officers' threshold for breaching people under their supervision [140]. These are but some of the ways in which people with mental illness are systematically disadvantaged in the criminal justice system.

## Privacy

Mental illnesses are (for the most part) concealable, which means that the majority of people who live with them are able to choose whether to disclose their illness to others. However, this choice is unfairly taken away by the policies and practices of workplaces, schools, social services, and other institutional settings in many ways. Similar experiences have been reported by people living with other illnesses, such as HIV/AIDS, who have fought for years to have their individual privacy rights protected from mandatory disclosure in the interest of public safety [62,6].

An egregious example is the routine disclosure of mental health information by the police [141], a practice that exists today in Canada. When police use the provisions of the Mental Health Act to apprehend a person who is in crisis,

information about this incident is often recorded in police databases. This information can subsequently be shared between criminal justice agencies (e.g., police, corrections, border security agencies) and disclosed in routine 'police record checks,' even though no offence has been committed and no charge has been laid. This disclosure can make it difficult for some people living with a mental illness to volunteer, get a job, or travel outside the country [e.g., 142]. A collateral consequence of these policies and practices is that some individuals will be reluctant to call for help during a mental health crisis because of fears about how personal information will be recorded and used by police in the future.

# Public Participation

Historically, people with mental illnesses have been prevented from exercising their right to public participation, which may include voting in elections, serving as jurors, or holding political office. Although progress has been made in these areas, systematic exclusions from public participation on the basis of mental illness persist today around the world [52,127].

A 2001 study of 63 democracies found that only four countries, including Canada, did not restrict the voting rights of people with mental illnesses [143]. However, Canada did disqualify people with mental illnesses from voting in federal elections until the early 1990s, a change that was instigated by a Federal Court of Appeal decision in 1988 [144]. A more recent study of 27 European Union Member States found that the majority of countries continued to exclude people with mental illnesses from political participation (either voting, being elected, or both), nine countries placed some restrictions on political participation (e.g., based on individual assessment of capacity), and only five countries permitted full participation in the electoral process [145].

In the United States, Hemmens and colleagues [85] reviewed State laws to ascertain the degree to which the civil rights of people with mental illnesses were constrained. The findings were troubling in that the restrictions on rights were common and, in many cases, were imposed broadly on people with mental illnesses ('mental illness' restrictions) as opposed to being applicable specifically to those who lacked capacity or posed a risk to public safety ('incompetency' or 'public safety' restrictions). The study revealed that 44 States restricted the right to serve on a jury (17 with 'mental illness' restrictions), 37 States restricted the right to vote (19 with 'mental illness' restrictions), 24 States restricted the right to hold public office (16 with 'mental illness' restrictions), 27 States allowed mental illness to be used as a grounds for divorce (21 specifying 'mentally ill'), and 27 States permitted the restriction of parental rights on the basis of mental illness (21 with 'mental illness' restrictions).

Although a cursory glance at similar provincial and territorial statutes suggests that Canadians with mental illnesses are seldom excluded from public participation, such discrimination does exist. For instance, people with mental illnesses in Quebec are disqualified from serving on a jury (Quebec Jurors Act, s. 4h). Ontario and British Columbia also have similar policies, but these provinces specify that this only applies to cases in which the mental impairment will negatively affect the individual's ability to carry out juror duties (Ontario Juries Act, s. 4a; BC Jury Act, s. 3.1o). Further study of this issue is needed in Canada in order to gain an understanding of the extent to which people with mental illnesses are disqualified, either formally or informally, from exercising their civil rights.

## Travel and Immigration

International travel and immigration is more difficult for people with mental illnesses. Impairment produced by the illness is not the cause of such difficulties but, rather, the policies themselves create barriers for people with mental illnesses. They have more difficulty obtaining travel insurance that covers mental health, even when their illnesses have been stabilized [97,146]. They may be required to disclose their mental illness on travel visas and face additional screening procedures. For example, prior to visiting, citizens of selected countries who plan to travel to Canada must obtain a Temporary Resident Visa, which requires applicants to complete a form that asks whether they have "any

physical or mental disorder that would require social and/or health services other than medication during [their] stay in Canada." Applicants who indicate "yes" are then asked to provide details and may be asked to supply confirmatory documentation (e.g., letter from physician). Similarly, travellers who are applying for a Visa waiver to the United States are asked whether they have "a mental disorder associated with a display of harmful behavior, including self-harm." It is unknown how often travellers are denied entry into other countries because of mental illness; however, as mentioned earlier, Canadians who have had police involvement in a mental health crisis (e.g., mental health emergency, suicide attempt) can be denied entry into the United States.

Prior to immigrating to Canada, individuals are required to complete a form that asks whether they or any family member listed in the application have ever had any serious disease, or physical or mental disorder. It is interesting to note that this question is adjacent to others that ask about criminal convictions, incarcerations, and involvement in crimes against humanity and armed violence. Applicants must then undergo an immigration medical exam that requires screening for psychiatric conditions to determine whether they will likely pose a danger to public health, a danger to public safety, or will cause excessive demand on health or social services in Canada (e.g., require ongoing institutional care). Those who do not pass this exam are designated "inadmissible" under Canada's Immigration and Refugee Protection Act.

Some have suggested that permitting such discrimination against persons with disabilities stands in stark contrast with recent efforts to abolish immigration policies and practices that discriminate on the basis of race, gender, religion, or sexual orientation [147]. Though immigration policy does not deny entry to Canada for all people with mental illnesses (which is a positive shift from the historical practice of using categorical exclusions), the 'excessive demand' clause is an extremely difficult barrier to overcome. Moreover, it sets a utilitarian tone to assess persons who are or are not valued (or who are worth investing in) in Canadian society. People who live with a mental illness may, on that basis, be characterized as burdens and deemed unworthy of being citizens of our tolerant, inclusive society [107,52].

#### Media

Perhaps no subject pertaining to structural stigma has received as much scholarly attention as the way in which the media depicts mental illnesses. Media accounts and representations of mental illnesses are a primary source of mental health information for many citizens. Media coverage does much more than simply present an objective description of the facts of mental illness; journalists also interpret and explain events, and try to influence people to see things and to act in particular ways [148]. Media coverage has a role to play, not only in what audiences attend to but also in what they think and feel about a problem [149].

So, while news media may indeed reflect what goes on in a community, they also shape social phenomena in important ways. For example, Corrigan and colleagues [150] use the term structural stigma to describe the systematic manner in which the news media encourage stigma by framing people with mental illnesses in a negative light. As Holstein and Miller [151] suggest, the way problems are constructed has a direct bearing on the kinds of solutions that are seen to be appropriate for addressing them. Media representations thus contribute to public understandings of mental illnesses, influence how people with mental health problems are regarded and treated [e.g., 152], and play a role in debates about public policy pertaining to mental illnesses [e.g., 153].

Numerous studies have systematically examined media representations of mental illnesses [154-158]). The general conclusion from this body of research is that media coverage of mental illnesses is disproportionally negative—framing people with mental illnesses as violent, prone to criminality, unpredictable, incompetent, undesirable, and undeserving. One systematic review concludes that media portrayals of mental illness simply reflect the traditional, common sense, lay understandings of madness through their depictions of people with mental illnesses as inferior to, and separate from, normal society [159].

Such negative findings have been replicated by several studies examining representations of mental illnesses in Canadian media–with little to no improvements observed over time [160-164]. One study by Stuart [165] investigated media representations of mental illness in two local newspapers in Calgary, Alberta. The study was designed to evaluate the effectiveness of a media intervention in the late 1990s that sought to change newspaper portrayals of severe mental illnesses (e.g., schizophrenia). The pre-post design content analysis revealed that while the average number of positive news stories about mental illness increased by 33%, the number of negative news stories also increased by 25%, indicating that the intervention produced minimal positive effects. A more recent analysis of Canadian newspaper coverage from 2005-2010 found that danger, violence, and criminality were direct themes in 40% of articles about mental illness, and that no improvements in mental health reporting were observed during the study period [160], even though there has been an upsurge of mental health awareness and anti-stigma activity in Canada.

The media are often described as having widespread symbolic power through their ability to broadcast to large numbers of people over wide geographical areas. A more complex perspective is provided by Couldry [166] who conceptualizes 'media power' as a social process in which all members of society—journalists, media owners, advertisers, readers, listeners, viewers—are implicated in the production and reproduction of particular versions of social issues such as mental illness. This conception of 'media power' offers the possibility that it can be resisted and contested, and that patterns of reporting and reading can be changed through the active engagement of ordinary people in journalistic matters. It also offers the possibility of a civic oriented journalism [e.g., 167] in which journalists come to recognize and understand the implications of the ongoing narrative for both audience and policy responses and, perhaps, work directly with people who experience mental health problems in order to interrupt the dominant narrative.

## Reproduction and Parenting

A tragic history surrounds the reproductive rights of people with mental illnesses. Many countries, including Canada, implemented enforced sterilization programs for people with mental and physical disabilities in the early to mid-20th century [168]. Although these barbaric programs no longer exist, some observers argue that they have been replaced with covert structural barriers that serve to prevent people with mental illnesses from becoming or being parents [27,52].

This primarily stems from the perception that a child's health and safety is seriously jeopardized when a parent has a mental illness. Moreover, the moralistic message is that people with mental illnesses are undeserving of having children. Those who live with mental illnesses are widely viewed by laypersons and professionals as incapable of being good parents—a belief that can be internalized by people with mental illnesses, leading them to choose not to have children or self-doubting their capabilities as parents. People with mental illnesses are strongly discouraged from starting families, which may materialize in the form of advice from health professionals to not have children, refusal by professionals to help manage psychiatric medications that would enable pregnancy, disqualification from adoption, encouragement to abort during pregnancy, or denial of access to in vitro fertilization [169,27,170].

People with mental illnesses who do have children report unfair treatment by mental health professionals, social workers, educators, judges, nurses, and physicians [169,170]. They can be subjected to intensive surveillance (e.g., by health, education, and social service professionals), and may continually face the risk of losing their children. In fact, in response to a tragic (but isolated) event in British Columbia involving the deaths of three children by a parent with a mental illness, the provincial child advocate suggested that the government implement systematic screening of current and expectant parents to determine whether or not they have a mental illnesses, which was framed as a way to protect the safety and well-being of children [171, Recommendation 1A]. To date, it seems that such systems of scrutiny have been ruled to be justified for the protection of children [e.g., 172].

A parent's mental illness is routinely raised during child custody disputes and as grounds for denying or restricting child visitation. One study in the United States found that the majority of States permitted the restriction of parental rights for people with mental illnesses [85], such as permitting a person's parental rights to guardianship to be terminated by reason of mental illness [54]. Clearly, stereotypes that all people with mental illnesses are unstable, incompetent, and dangerous place parents who live with mental illnesses in powerless positions when it comes to child custody issues. A collateral consequence of such policies and practices is that parents may choose not to seek professional help because of the potential for being subjected to paternalistic practices or losing custody of their children. Like structural stigma that materializes in other life domains, unfair treatment of parents with mental illnesses will exacerbate marginalization and disadvantage for them and their children.

# HOW CAN STRUCTURAL STIGMA BE ADDRESSED?

Cynics might argue that institutional discrimination is so entrenched within our society that any serious thoughts of its eradication by whatever means are both utopian and unrealistic. Such people need to be reminded that [...] institutional discrimination, in common with everything else in our world, is little more than a social creation, and as such can be socially eradicated.

Barnes [51]

There is no shortage of recommendations about how mental illness-related structural stigma could be addressed. Unfortunately, few of these suggested strategies have been tested and evaluated. Presently, an evidence-based formula for reducing structural stigma does not exist. In fact, the current state of knowledge for effectively diminishing mental illness-related stigma on any level (i.e., social, self) is rather weak.

In the absence of solid evidence, individuals and agencies seeking to reduce stigma must turn to other sources of knowledge to inform the direction of their programs. This would include the opinions of scholars and other experts who have spent their careers thinking about and researching mental illness-related stigma. Their advice is contained in numerous books, articles, and reports that provide guidance on how to address structural stigma [e.g., 52,127,116,56,131]. Another valuable source is the experienced-based knowledge from people with mental illnesses and their associates (e.g., families, friends) whose lives have been directly impacted by stigma. Astute program planners should also harness the wisdom of those who, over several decades, have succeeded or failed to fight against structural stigma in other communities marginalized by race/ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, or disability and illness (e.g., HIV/AIDS).

Despite the lack of empirical evidence, several trends can be discerned from the existing body of literature. Generally, there is consensus that, in order to be successful, anti-stigma strategies must target multiple levels by employing a mixture of approaches [173,174,56,175,176,72,77,99]. So, interventions must be designed to target stigma at the individual (micro), social (meso), and structural (macro) levels [37]. Effectively reducing stigma will also require the collective and collaborative efforts of many groups and organizations with a mix of skill sets and expertise (e.g., lawyers, activists, business leaders) [77]. Effectively combatting mental illness-related structural stigma also requires attending to the root causes of injustice and inequity, which essentially means creating a social movement to shift the dominant cultural ideology into one that does not just tolerate, but values and embraces human difference [43].

Other health conditions, such as cancer, have achieved significant progress at the social and cultural level over the past few decades. The impact of a health social movement, combined with the feminist movement, on the illness experience is eloquently illustrated by Maren Klawiter in a powerful study of one woman's (Clara) experience of being diagnosed with breast cancer in the United States during the late 1970s and then again in the late 1990s [177]. Whereas Clara's first experience with breast cancer was characterized by stigma, isolation, power disparities, and invisibility, her more recent experience following the social transformation of breast cancer was characterized by inclusion, empowerment, choice, and sisterhood. A comparable social transformation is greatly desired by people living with mental illnesses and their supporters; however, the social and structural barriers faced by people with mental illnesses are relatively more challenging and entrenched, and much more difficult to overcome.

Recent commentary reveals a growing cynicism and impatience with present-day anti-stigma programs, which have tended to employ public service announcement-type campaigns in order to educate, raise awareness, and improve attitudes among the public. Many scholars and advocates express a desire to shift the focus of anti-stigma initiatives

from 'soft' goals (e.g., improving knowledge and attitudes) to 'hard' goals that produce concrete improvements in the lives of people with mental illnesses, such as strengthening human rights protections, improving social and economic equity, and enhancing quality of life [178,56]. Since three levels of stigma are mutually reinforcing, it is likely that the greatest improvements will be achieved through a combination of strategies that target 'hard' and 'soft' goals, as opposed to choosing one over the other [7,72,179,84,52]. It is also apparent from research conducted in other areas (e.g., race/ethnicity, gender, sexuality) that ameliorating stigma at a structural level will not be quick; rather, it will require persistent efforts to yield incremental change over multiple decades and generations.

Researchers have asked people with mental illnesses about their preferences in relation to addressing stigma. Studies in the United States found that the anti-stigma strategies favoured by participants were taking legal action either through litigation (37%) or mediation (22%); seeking help from government agencies (26%); making a complaint to an employer/landlord by phone (13%) or letter (2%); getting help from an advocacy group (13%); or looking for a job/ apartment elsewhere (10%) [180]. Another study in the United Kingdom found that most participants prioritized institutional reforms over public education approaches to address stigma [181]. Their suggested approaches included increasing investment in mental health to improve access to services, improving knowledge and attitudes among general practitioners and mental health professionals, and shifting away from the medical model toward more holistic care. Building upon these suggestions, a scan of the literature points to six interrelated approaches that are needed to prevent and protect people with mental illnesses from structural stigma, including; (1) legal and political action, (2) advocacy, (3) inclusive efforts, (4) healthcare reform, (5) education, and (6) research. Each of these is considered below.

## Legal and Political Action

Tackling mental illness-related structural stigma will require significant legal and policy action, such as creating new laws; contesting, amending, or repealing harmful laws and policies; and enforcing existing laws [51,182,27,127]. The ultimate goal is to develop a robust system of protections that serves to thwart instances of structural stigma across all domains of life (e.g., employment, health, housing, and so on). A strong system would also facilitate ready access to mechanisms for people with mental illnesses to challenge structural stigma when it materializes, such as supporting individuals to bring their concerns to administrative tribunals, professional regulatory bodies, and the courts [173]. Such reforms would also shift the way in which people with mental illnesses are framed in social policy, which may achieve improvements in self and social stigma [179].

Laws already exist to prevent discrimination and inequity for people with mental illnesses. Unlike other developed nations (e.g., United States, England and Wales, Australia), Canada does not have federal disabilities legislation; however, its citizens have access to protections that are granted by numerous international, national, and provincial/territorial texts. The majority of these texts offer what is known as first generation (or negative) protections, in that they require the government not to engage in certain activities [56]. For instance, governments are not to arbitrarily curtail the liberty of individuals through apprehension, detention, and hospitalization. More scarce are second generation (or positive) protections which emphasize the government's obligation to provide social entitlements that address social, economic, and political inequities, such as those created by structural stigma [56,127].

A range of international human rights texts prohibit discrimination, including the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, to name a few. These texts articulate norms and principles by which nations have agreed to abide; State parties that fail to do so may face political and economic sanctions by the international community. In the Canadian legal system, international laws that are ratified by the federal government are generally enforceable by Canadian courts when their provisions have been transformed into domestic law (i.e., legislation has been enacted). Specific to mental illness-related structural stigma, one of the most pertinent international agreements is the United Nations' Convention on the Rights of People with Disabilities (CRPD), which was ratified by Canada in 2010. As a human rights instrument, the CRPD is designed to promote and protect the human rights and fundamental freedoms of all persons with disabilities, including mental illnesses. The CRPD is underpinned by eight guiding principles: (a) respect for inherent dignity, individual autonomy including the freedom to make one's own choices, and independence of persons; (b) non-discrimination; (c) full and effective participation and inclusion in society; (d) respect for difference and acceptance of persons with disabilities as part of human diversity and humanity; (e) equality of opportunity; (f) accessibility; (g) equality between men and women; and (h) respect for the evolving capacities of children with disabilities and respect for the right of children with disabilities, such as: equal recognition before the law (article 12); access to justice (article 13); liberty and security of the person (article 14); freedom from torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment (article 15); protecting the integrity of the person (article 17); living independently and being included in the community (article 19); respect for privacy (article 22); education (article 24); health (article 25); habilitation and rehabilitation (article 26); adequate standard of living and social protection (article 28); and participation in political and public life (article 29). The CRPD is an important document that should inspire legal and social progress towards improving protections of rights and freedoms, improving access to social entitlements, and eliminating mental illness-related structural stigma [76,183,127,56].

In Canada, the Charter of Rights and Freedoms, the Canadian Human Rights Act, the Employment Equity Act, and the Canada Health Act are some of the federal statutes that provide protections to all citizens. The Charter of Rights and Freedoms is the supreme law in Canada, meaning that it establishes the standard for assessing the legitimacy or all other laws in this country. The Charter is a vital tool for challenging instances of structural stigma, as it offers a host of protections to Canadians, including: voting in elections (s. 3); right to life, liberty and security of the person (s. 7); right not to be arbitrarily detained (s. 9); access to legal counsel (s. 10); right not to be subjected to cruel and unusual treatment or punishment (s. 12); and equal protection under, and equal benefit of, the law (s. 15). The rights and freedoms that are guaranteed by the Charter are not absolute; the government is permitted (by section 1) to impose restrictions on individuals in certain situations. For instance, although compulsory treatment infringes an individual's right to liberty, it has been held to be justified by the objective of protecting and helping secure the safety and well-being of the individual and society. The reasons for curtailing rights must be specific, as legislation that uses overly broad criteria, such as a history or label of mental illness, will be struck down as arbitrary. Theoretically, any citizen who believes their Charter rights have been infringed can seek remedy in court (s. 24.1), which should serve as a powerful mechanism for countering structural stigma. Pragmatically, however, preparing a case for court (especially for the Supreme Court of Canada) is expensive, time-consuming, and beyond the means of many people with mental illnesses.

The Canadian Human Rights Act applies to workplaces and services that are covered by federal laws, such as banks, airlines, postal services, and the federal government. This statute provides individuals with protections against discriminatory practices based on gender, race, disability, and other grounds that occur within any federally regulated service or activity. Claims of discrimination are investigated and enforced by the Canadian Human Rights Commission, and are adjudicated by the Canadian Human Rights Tribunal. Public and private services that are covered by provincial laws, such as provincial employers, landlords, or service providers, are governed by provincial/territorial human rights codes. Each province/territory has established tribunals to adjudicate human rights complaints. Additionally, some provinces have created more assertive agencies, such as the Ontario Human Rights Commission, that proactively provide a range of important services (e.g., developing policy, educating the public, monitoring trends, and conducing inquiries) to prevent and protect against discrimination.

In addition to the aforementioned human rights statutes, provincial/territorial mental health statutes offer some legal protections to Canadians with mental illnesses. For instance, they articulate the criteria and processes by which people can (and cannot) be involuntarily treated, hospitalized, and compelled to abide by conditions in the community.

However, it has been observed that Canada's mental health legislation does little to promote the rights of people with mental illness, empower them to make choices about their lives, provide them with legal protections, or ensure their full participation in the community [106]. Scholars suggest that mental health legislation should do more to protect and advance the positive rights of people with mental illnesses (e.g., access to housing, healthcare, adequate standard of living) and articulate the services that are needed to support individuals so that they may avoid compulsory treatment, rather than merely articulating the reasons for curtailing rights and freedoms [105,106,127]. It has also been recommended that society move away from creating unique institutional arrangements for detaining people with mental illnesses but, rather, create legislation in which preventative detention can be applied to all citizens who lack capacity or pose a significant safety risk regardless of its cause [108].

Most legislative protections that currently exist are not specific to people with mental illnesses—either they are human rights codes that apply broadly to all citizens (e.g., Charter of Rights and Freedoms) or to persons with any form of disability (e.g., CRPD). It is questionable whether laws and policies that specifically refer to people with mental illnesses are necessary or desirable. Indeed, any policy that reinforces the notion that people with mental illnesses are different from others, whether it is in the context of curtailing rights though compulsory treatment or providing greater protections, risks exacerbating stigma [84,52]. Of importance is ensuring that the rights and opportunities of people with mental illnesses are protected in the same manner as they are for all other members of society [82,7]. Disability rights laws should apply equally to persons with physical and mental disabilities. For instance, similar to the way in which reasonable accommodations are made in the workplace for people with physical disabilities, people with mental illnesses should also have access to necessary resources and supports to manage their impairments [184,66]. Beyond equality, people with mental illnesses-like many other socially marginalized groups (e.g., Aboriginal peoples)-need equity; that is, additional resources and supports to offset the social, economic, and political disadvantages so that they may experience the same rights and opportunities as other community members. The collateral consequence of equity policies is that they can exacerbate stigma by reinforcing a distinction between 'us' and 'them'. This critique has been directed by some civil libertarians and psychiatric survivors at criminal justice diversion strategies for people with mental illnesses, the 'Not Criminally Responsible on Account of Mental Disorder' defence, and other mental illnessspecific social policies and institutional practices [52].

Although the aforementioned international and domestic texts are important for establishing universal human rights, scholars have observed that they have been ineffective, in many respects, for improving the material conditions and status of people with mental illnesses [106,52]. Indeed, structural stigma persists in most developed countries, including Canada, despite the existence of highly advanced legislative and policy frameworks [185,56]. An array of contributing factors is responsible for this paradox. The first problem is that laws may be inherently flawed [179]. For instance, protections may not extend to certain subgroups, such as persons with substance use problems or histories of criminal justice involvement. The experience in the United States with the Americans with Disabilities Act suggests that the most marginalized and vulnerable members of society (e.g., people who are severely impaired by mental illness such as schizophrenia) are the least likely to benefit from legislative protections [52]. Laws and policies may also contain vague and ambiguous language that provides too much discretion with respect to interpretation and implementation. Consequently, stigmatizing practices or procedures may flow from lack of clarity, such as overly general principles, in laws intending to protect people from discrimination.

A second reason that structural stigma exists in societies with seemingly robust legislative protections relates to the fact that it is a phenomenon that is difficult to document, especially when it manifests in unintentional and covert forms [182]. Research indicates that people are less likely to perceive institutional forms of discrimination as compared to individual forms of discrimination [65]. Consequently, it is extremely difficult to produce enough evidence to support claims pertaining to structural stigma [173,84]. Another important factor is that, despite the presence of laws

prohibiting discrimination, people with mental illnesses either do not seek or have access to legal redress [105,84,127]. Research indicates that only a small fraction of disability discrimination and human rights complaints are acted upon by enforcement agencies [182,173]. Perhaps, people with mental illnesses are unaware of their individual rights or how to challenge infringements of their rights. They may not be able to afford the financial expense associated with litigation, or they may not be in a position to invest the time and energy into resisting inequity or injustice.

By definition, individuals who are the subjects of structural stigma are prone to shame, disempowerment, and selfstigma [72], all of which serve as strong deterrents from asking for support or fighting against powerful institution systems. Fear of being exposed as a person who lives with mental illness is a significant factor that explains why structural stigma remains unchallenged [179]. Many people chose to conceal their mental illness out of fear of being exposed to numerous exclusionary processes. For instance, a person who unveils their mental illness in one life domain (e.g., seeking job accommodations) opens themselves up to additional exclusionary practices and intense scrutiny in other domains (e.g., parenting).

A final explanation of the persistence of structural stigma in contemporary society is the fact that challenging it poses a significant threat to the legitimacy of the social hierarchy [65]. As such, those in positions of power protect their privilege and justify the social hierarchy by discounting claims about inequality/injustice and making it difficult for lowstatus groups to access the resources required to instigate change. Structural stigma thrives in environments with weak infrastructures for monitoring and enforcing rules, or when people with mental illness are not provided with the means to contest violations [186].

Courts and human rights tribunals can react to cases and rectify instances of structural stigma, but more proactive approaches are needed, such as auditing policies and practices [173]. Efforts must be made to establish internal and external monitoring mechanisms to assess, promote, and facilitate adherence with existing law and policies, such as the CRPD regulations [99]. Also, legislation seeking to remedy structural stigma must be complemented with enforcement bodies that are authorized to penalize institutional systems for violating existing statutes [77].

## Advocacy

Although important, legal and policy action alone will not eradicate structural stigma [127,7,52]. Other approaches are required to bridge the chasm between policy and practice, and to overcome the power imbalances that are inherent in structural stigma. Because of their marginalized social location, some individuals with mental illnesses do not have access to the necessary resources to challenge inequities and injustices that they routinely face. As such, there is a need for legal and social justice advocacy services, with the aim of supporting people with mental illnesses and influencing public policy and resource allocation decisions within political, economic, and social systems [99,51,183,86,97,96], as is noted by Campbell and Deacon [50]: "... where there is power, there may also be the potential for individual/collective resistance" (p. 413). Advocacy decentralizes power by creating additional avenues for people with mental illnesses to seek redress whenever they encounter instances of structural stigma [183].

The leaders of our institutional systems, such as politicians, bureaucrats, and healthcare decision-makers, need to be convinced that it is wrong for community members to endure arbitrary restrictions on their rights and opportunities simply because they have a mental illness [29]. Furthermore, people with mental illnesses need a vehicle or forum to mobilize their interests in an organized, effective, and forceful manner. Advocacy groups should be supported to undertake a range of important activities, including: organizing mental health communities and mobilizing grassroots support; empowering and engaging people with mental illnesses in the advocacy process; gathering and disseminating information pertaining to structural stigma; lobbying for change in social policies, legal protections, and professional practices; promoting greater accountability, with an emphasis on human rights and quality in mental health services;

and monitoring progress [173,99,183,106]. Advocacy groups should also play a significant role in assisting the Canadian government in its obligation to promote, protect, and monitor implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities [107].

Some scholars posit that advocacy groups should remain independent of government influence, which would provide them with the liberty to assert seemingly radical positions on issues of public policy [51,106]. In other words, advocates must feel free to engage in a political debate without fearing that their funding, and continued existence, is in jeopardy. For instance, if government plans to enact legislation that unreasonably curtails the liberties of people with mental illnesses, then advocacy groups need to be able to fight fervently against such injustices. It is argued that agencies with semi-autonomous status who receive substantial funding from government cannot serve this function effectively since they are, on the one hand, ignored by government for being independent and, on the other hand, subdued by government through the control of resources [51,106]. However, it should be recognized that multiple forms of advocacy are needed to address structural stigma. For instance, mental health service providers and their professional bodies can serve as strong advocates for the equitable distribution of resources to the mental health system and for the treatment of people with mental illnesses [56]. Also, organizations that have close ties with government typically have ready access to officials who are willing to listen and discuss issues of importance. Despite having some encumbrances owing to their funding arrangements, semi-autonomous organizations may be ideally positioned to detect and seize on enlightened opportunities to educate, advocate, and create change with respect to breaking down structural barriers— or at least priming the pump for eventual change.

Advocates in areas such as physical disabilities, cancer, and tuberculosis are recognized for playing critical roles in transforming societal attitudes, which have often translated into increased funding for research and improved treatments [99,96]. In the HIV/AIDS field, a number of advocacy programs have increased the availability of treatment for people living with HIV/AIDS and have reduced experiences of stigma. For instance, HIV/AIDS groups have partnered with lawyers' organizations (e.g., Lawyers Collective in India and the AIDS Law Project in South Africa) to use the law to advance and defend legal protections [59]. The key elements of these HIV/AIDS advocacy programs are the leadership and active engagement of people living with HIV/AIDS in advocacy, education, litigation, and related activities [59]. Another exemplary advocacy program is the Disability Rights Commission in Great Britain (renamed the Equality and Human Rights Commission in 2007), which provides information and advice to people with disabilities, businesses and service providers; assists persons with disabilities to reclaim their rights; and advises government [187]. Importantly, this program provides people with mental illnesses access to an enforcement body that formally investigates claims of discrimination on mental health grounds [187].

Enhancing political participation is another promising approach. This strategy may involve enhancing voting rates among people with mental illnesses and their associates (e.g., families, friends, service providers), supporting political role models to speak out about their own mental health problems, and promoting the formation of stronger interest/ advocacy groups so that the concerns of people affected (directly or indirectly) by mental illnesses are added to the political agenda [99]. An example is the Canadian Mental Health Association's (BC Division) Vote Mental Health 4All campaign (http://www.votementalhealth4all.ca/), which mobilized the mental health community in British Columbia to ensure that mental health issues were part of the campaign conversation in the 2013 provincial general election. Indeed, numerous human rights and mental health advocacy organizations in Canada and elsewhere have strong records of resisting coercive, paternalistic, and unfair social policies and professional practices. The creation and funding of a formal national network of advocacy organizations that is controlled and run by people with mental illnesses is recommended as an important way to combine resources and efforts that are aimed at eradicating mental illness-related structural stigma [51].

## Inclusive Efforts

Structural stigma causes social exclusion; that is, "the enforced lack of participation in key social, cultural and political activities" [188]. Therefore, counteracting it will require the promotion and creation of opportunities for the inclusion and participation of people with mental illnesses in our institutional systems.

Building on the concept of community development, the goal is to mobilize the mental health community, so that they are engaged in the process of identifying local needs (i.e., injustices and inequities), and then empowered with the knowledge, skills, and authority to develop and implement local solutions [189,56]. Such activities should be designed to stimulate interaction between persons with mental illness, their families/friends, and other community members/ institutions, including media, businesses, schools, volunteer agencies, and political officials. Inclusive efforts also include a range of strategies to remove barriers that reduce the chance for people with mental illnesses to participate in any domain of life, including work, school, family, healthcare, and politics, which intersects with the other approaches for preventing and protecting against structural stigma that are discussed elsewhere in this report.

One way to accomplish this goal is to support a range of local initiatives that encourage people with mental illnesses to contribute to their communities, thereby demonstrating that they are more than a societal burden [174]. For instance, health authorities could ensure that people who live with mental illnesses are meaningfully involved in decision-making processes regarding mental health services, such as monitoring the quality of treatment or identifying structural barriers [97]. Another excellent example is presented by Sayce [52] who describes a consumer-run drop-in centre in Berkeley, California, that resisted community opposition by beautifying the neighbourhood, nurturing relationships with local community members, and making local decision-makers aware of existing anti-discrimination statutes. Strategically funding community-based research projects, in which academic researchers and community members work together to study and solve issues affecting the daily lives of people with mental illnesses, is another promising method for mobilizing and empowering marginalized communities.

## Healthcare Reform

Clearly, mental health services should reduce, rather than exacerbate, problems for people with mental illnesses. However, the reality is that mental health systems, through their policies and professional practices, can operate in ways that either tolerate or produce unfairness, injustice, and inequities. Addressing structural stigma requires that people with mental illnesses have access to the same range, quality, and standard of healthcare that is enjoyed by persons with physical illnesses [56]. Similar to other health conditions, stigma related to mental illness is entwined with the quality of treatment. Decreasing stigma will lead to more funding (e.g., more private donors, enhanced public/political support) to increase capacity for research and to discover more effective treatments for mental illnesses; conversely, improvements in mental health treatment will lead to decreasing stigma by reducing the impairments that keep people from enjoying full social, political, and economic participation [96].

As many Canadians can attest, simply having access to universal healthcare is not a sufficient remedy for structural stigma. Scholars recommend that mental health services be structured around the concept of recovery-oriented care (or another paradigm espousing similar values), which provides persons with mental illnesses with self-determination and control over healthcare decisions [96,56,92]. The goal should be to shift away from paternalistic healthcare practices, toward systems of care that support patients' choices, address their individual and holistic needs, respect their human rights and dignity, and acknowledge the value of their lived experiences [190-193]. Under such a system of care, power is shared between healthcare providers and the person living with a mental illness, and therapeutic relationships are non-hierarchical and respectful. Supporting mental health recovery is achieved through a system that provides a range of services that extend beyond psychotropic medications and other medical interventions, such as

having access to crisis intervention, psychoeducation, counselling and psychological therapies, self-management and peer support, and advocacy.

Working towards the elimination of coercive practices and compulsory interventions in the mental health system is an essential step for reducing structural stigma [52]. Involuntary services may be necessary in narrowly defined situations; however, curtailing an individual's rights and freedoms should not be tolerated as a way to fix a broken system. Greater effort and investment is needed to study and rectify the systemic problems (i.e., gaps in institutional systems) that place people in situations where compulsory care may be required. Additionally, in order for governments to have addressed structural stigma in a meaningful way, they must—at a minimum—counterbalance their coercive interventions by offering a high-quality, voluntary, accessible, and appropriate continuum of mental health services, combined with ready access to legal advocacy services (e.g., legal aid) [107]. Strong evidence supports the premise that the need for involuntary interventions will be significantly reduced by investing in a mental health system that offers a continuum of crisis stabilization and intensive outpatient services [194]. Individuals who are receiving involuntary mental healthcare should not be forgotten, since opportunities can be created to meaningfully involve them in their own care and recovery [e.g., 192,195], and to ensure that they are transitioned to less restrictive interventions in a timely manner.

Anti-stigma efforts can be supported by quality assurance processes for mental health services that identify and rectify stigma-producing policies and professional practices [8]. Standards of care should incorporate indicators of social inclusion and participation, in addition to other more conventional measures of organizational performance [188]. In this respect, accreditation standards for health services may be an effective tool to promote recovery-oriented care and to reduce structural stigma that is embedded within the mental health system [56].

The colossal transformation of California's mental health system that is currently underway offers a case study of mental health reform that appears to be guided by progressive care philosophies [196]. The State recently passed legislation imposing a 1% tax on personal income that is being used to re-focus their community mental health system on prevention and wellness, supporting mental health recovery, promoting community integration, empowering people with mental illnesses and their families to direct their own care, and expanding services to underserved populations. Approximately one billion dollars is being allocated annually to support mental health prevention and early intervention strategies, including anti-stigma initiatives that, among other activities, contest discriminatory policies that negatively affect people with mental illnesses.

#### Education

Anti-stigma efforts that focus on improving knowledge and attitudes are limited in the magnitude and longevity of impacts they can achieve at the structural level [56]. However, the question remains as to whether such changes are prerequisites for achieving broader structural improvements. Can barriers to social participation be removed for people with mental illnesses without first transforming the values and beliefs (i.e., the social context) that reinforce structural stigma? Will politicians and community leaders prioritize this issue if the public is indifferent towards, or supportive of, arbitrary restrictions on the rights and opportunities of people with mental illnesses? Will practices change if professionals, such as landlords, employers, and educators, are unaware of their obligations under existing regulations and laws concerning the treatment of people with mental illnesses? Because the aforementioned strategies will not necessarily transform attitudes and beliefs about mental illness, it is necessary that they be complemented by other strategies for activating and supporting change within institutional systems [84,173,77,182].

Most scholars assert that in order for mental health awareness and education campaigns to achieve substantive structural changes, they should be aimed at powerful professional groups that control our institutional systems [53]. For instance, the World Psychiatric Association's anti-stigma initiative (called 'Open the Doors') targeted a range of

groups including medical staff, journalists, police, employers, and church leaders [184]. Another suggestion is to raise awareness among elected officials and policy-makers concerning how their actions can perpetuate mental illness-related structural stigma. A range of tactics to improve knowledge, attitudes, and behaviour among different professional groups are cited in the literature; these include: developing and distributing educational/instructional materials about human rights, stigma, and accommodations; modifying training curricula in universities and other educational programs to include issues pertaining to mental illness and stigma; cultivating partnerships between mental health agencies and other professional groups; and creating core competencies and standards for professionals (e.g., police, primary care physicians) that include knowledge/skills related to mental illnesses and stigma.

Shifting the way in which mental illness is framed by journalists and presented in films/television programs is routinely mentioned as a key mechanism for addressing structural stigma [77]. Anti-stigma campaigns in several countries, such as Australia and New Zealand, have demonstrated promising findings by developing strategic partnerships with news media [197]. Another approach taken has been to embed curricula in university journalism programs that is designed to improve knowledge and attitudes about mental illness, and to shift journalistic practices with respect to reporting stories about people with mental illnesses [197].

In addition to the media, employers are also recognized as a key target group [116]. Educating employers by dispelling myths about the capabilities of people with mental illnesses, and supplying them with knowledge on how to accommodate people with mental illnesses, are essential ways to counteract structural stigma [84]. A systematic review of 22 initiatives that addressed stigma in the workplace, primarily through the use of educational approaches (e.g., workshops, psychoeducation, experiential group learning), found that the overall effectiveness of these programs was mixed; however, some demonstrated improvements in professionals' knowledge and attitudes toward people with mental illnesses [113].

At a minimum, employers should be informed about their legal obligations under existing laws regarding people with mental illnesses [184]. Numerous tools are available to educate employers about providing job accommodations for people with mental illnesses, including resources developed in the United States [e.g., 198,199], Scotland [e.g., 200], and Canada [e.g., 201]. Similar tools also exist for landlords and municipal planners, such as the Ontario Human Rights Commission's web-based resource about rights and responsibilities in the context of rental housing [202] and municipal planning [203]. Although not specific to mental illness, these resources provide good guidance about non-discriminatory housing practices.

Since people with mental illnesses routinely mention professional practices in healthcare as a significant source of stigma, efforts should be directed toward educating mental health and medical professionals. An opportune time to reach this particular group is when they are training to become nurses, counsellors, psychiatrists, physicians, and so on. Several programs have demonstrated success with improving the attitudes of medical students towards working with people who have mental health and substance use problems [184,175]. Since stigmatizing practices can arise when professionals are unaware of their responsibilities and obligations, healthcare providers should be trained about existing legislation and policies that prohibit discrimination. It has also been suggested that continuing education programs and accreditation organizations ensure that recovery-oriented, patient-centred care principles are embedded within the policies of mental health organizations and practices of mental health service providers [184,56].

Some caveats with the aforementioned educational strategies should be acknowledged. Many of them have little evidence to support their effectiveness. So, for instance, we know that developing and enacting social policy is a complex process influenced by numerous social actors and a broad range of factors. Therefore, it would be naive to suggest that improving knowledge and attitudes among a subset of politicians or bureaucrats will necessarily translate into broad-based structural change. Additionally, we do not know about the differential levels of effectiveness that

each strategy has for different professional groups. What works in the employment arena may not be as effective for changing the behaviour of criminal justice personnel. Lastly, many of these education-based solutions target covert and intentional forms of structural stigma (i.e., policies/practices that purposefully restrict rights and opportunities). As such, they will have limited impact on unintentional or covert forms of structural stigma [66].

#### Research

To date, little research has been conducted on the topic of mental illness-related structural stigma, particularly in Canada. Other fields, such as HIV/AIDS, have produced a common, systematic approach to collecting data to understand the magnitude and nature of structural stigma [64]. For instance, the Protocol for the Identification of Discrimination against People Living with HIV is a tool created by UNAIDS to identify and monitor incidents of arbitrary discrimination internationally. An important characteristic of this Protocol is the fact that it is designed to identify the presence of discrimination within written texts (i.e., laws, policies) and unwritten procedures/practices, and draws data from multiple sources, including interviews with people living with HIV/AIDS. Documenting incidents and trends pertaining to structural stigma, thereby exposing the prevalence and perniciousness of the phenomenon, represents a necessary step toward addressing it.

A handful of tools are available to assess human rights protections in legislation for people with mental illnesses. For example, in 2011, an evaluation tool called the Mental Health and Human Rights Evaluation Instrument ('Evaluation Instrument') was produced by a research team that received funding from the Mental Health Commission of Canada [105]. The Evaluation Instrument was designed to examine whether existing mental health laws, policies, and standards in Canada align with the principles of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and uphold fundamental human rights. Although the Evaluation Instrument requires further refinement, it provides a useful foundation for initiating a research agenda focused on gaining an improved understanding of mental illness-related structural stigma in Canada. Such research is aligned with Canada's obligation to measure its level of compliance with the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities.

Once chronicled by rigorous research, the systematic exclusion of persons with mental illnesses by our institutional systems can no longer be ignored or reframed as a rare occurrence. Documenting incidents of structural stigma through research has several advantages including the ability to monitor change over time (e.g., before and after an anti-stigma initiative), compare different jurisdictions (e.g., provinces, countries), and identify priority areas for action [64]. Such data can equip mental health and human rights advocates with accurate, current information in order for them to prioritize their own efforts as they rally for change [54,56,106].

In addition to studying the prevalence and incidence of mental illness-related structural stigma in Canada, research should also examine the degree to which the public is supportive of policies and practices that restrict the rights and opportunities of people with mental illnesses. Such information would help with knowing where to allocate resources strategically to support education, advocacy, and lobbying activities. Researchers should also study the relationship between structural stigma and health/social outcomes for people with mental illnesses [204], which is important in order to understand the public health significance of this issue. Researchers in the United States found that reducing structural stigma related to sexual orientation (i.e., legislation that permits/prohibits gay marriage) appears to have exerted a positive effect on a population's mental health [205]. Gaining an improved understanding of the impact that reducing structural stigma has on the health and well-being of people with mental illnesses would be a fruitful avenue for future research.

Although traditional research approaches are suitable for examining some research questions, a community-based participatory research approach should be prioritized in any research agenda focused on studying and addressing

structural stigma. As Corrigan and colleagues [112] note: "Stigma robs people of rightful opportunities; hence, these people need to be at the research table as investigators take on the task of understanding stigma and stigma change" (p. 48). Research that actively engages people with mental illnesses in the process of producing knowledge can achieve numerous anti-stigma-related goals, such as fostering empowerment, mobilizing social justice, supporting social inclusion, and decentralizing power [206]. It also establishes an additional forum that can be used by people with mental illnesses to understand and solve issues that affect their daily lives.

# CLOSING

There is no question but that the mentally ill in our society have suffered from historical disadvantage, have been negatively stereotyped and are generally subject to social prejudice.

Supreme Court of Canada's Chief Justice Lamer *R v. Swain* [1991] at p. 994

Structural stigma is an issue of social justice, citizenship, human rights, ethics, and public health. Given the enormous scale of the problem, the task of addressing it seems unfathomable. However, there is good reason to remain optimistic about the prospect of creating an inclusive, equitable, and just society in which people with mental illnesses are not subjected to arbitrary restrictions on their rights and opportunities. A number of major legislative reforms in the United Kingdom and United States have been implemented to improve the protections and supports that are provided to people with mental illnesses, such as providing them with greater control over treatment decisions, expanding funding for mental health research, and supporting individuals who are returning to the workforce [116,52].

The State of California recently commenced on implementing a comprehensive 10-year mental health strategy focused, in part, on eliminating structural stigma that is embedded in federal and State legislation [95,196]. The following are some of the activities that will be undertaken to achieve this goal:

- Develop and disseminate educational fact sheets about applicable State and federal laws and regulations
  protecting individuals with mental illness in different contexts, such as schools, housing, guardianship,
  employment, and healthcare;
- Establish local groups that are tasked with developing and implementing strategies for promoting the compliance and enforcement of current anti-discrimination laws and regulations;
- Establish regular meetings with government and non-profit civil rights enforcement agencies to ensure protections of people living with mental illness;
- Train staff in institutional systems (e.g., higher education, prisons, health facilities) to ensure the understanding and proper implementation of existing protections;
- Train legal officials, such as lawyers, on recognizing and prosecuting mental illness-related discrimination;
- Facilitate the creation of legal opinions on areas of discrimination encountered by persons with mental illnesses; and
- Develop a statewide committee comprised of legal experts and diverse community members to review existing laws and regulations for discriminatory provisions and gaps, and to recommend corrective strategies.

On the face of it, this program incorporates many of the recommended mechanisms for dismantling structural stigma, such as employing a mixture of approaches (e.g., legal action, advocacy, education, healthcare reform) and developing multi-sectoral/cross-disciplinary collaborations. The evaluation plan that complements this anti-stigma initiative provides promise for generating new knowledge about the relative effectiveness of these strategies for eradicating mental illness-related structural stigma.

Reducing structural stigma will require both big and small changes to our institutional systems, as is nicely articulated by Sayce [52]: "In a sense, we are all responsible – through democratic means, through our own actions – for creating a society that does not discriminate on mental health grounds" (p. 127). On a small scale, perhaps an employer can

be convinced of the value of providing an employee with accommodations that will allow them to succeed in the workplace. Or, perhaps a mental health service provider will realize the benefits that are gained by meaningfully engaging people with mental illnesses in the treatment planning process. On a large scale, perhaps mental health services will be funded at a sufficient level such that people with mental illnesses have access to an appropriate range, quality, and standard of care. Or, perhaps people with mental illnesses will be able to find affordable, decent housing in socially integrated neighbourhoods. It is worthwhile to imagine a world without structural stigma; making it a reality will take time, persistence, and a legion of supporters.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Mental Health Commission of Canada (2012) Changing Directions, Changing Lives: The Mental Health Strategy for Canada. Author. http://strategy.mentalhealthcommission.ca/pdf/strategy-images-en.pdf. Accessed June 20 2012
- British Columbia (2010) Health Minds, Healthy People: A Ten-Year Plan to address Mental Health and Substance Use in British Columbia. http://www.health.gov.bc.ca/library/publications/year/2010/healthy\_minds\_healthy\_people.pdf, Archived at http://www.webcitation.org/5xwX7vNZm on April 15th, 2011.
- Ontario (2011) Open minds, health minds: Ontario's comprehensive mental health and addictions strategy. http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/common/ministry/publications/reports/mental\_health2011/mentalhealth\_rep2011.pdf. Accessed July 25 2013
- 4. Nova Scotia (2012) Together we can: The plan to improve mental health and addictions care for Nova Scotians. http://www.gov.ns.ca/health/mhs/reports/together\_we\_can.pdf. Accessed July 25 2013
- 5. Kelly BD (2005) Structural violence and schizophrenia. Social Science & Medicine 61 (3):721-730. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.12.020
- Herek GM, Capitanio JP, Widaman KF (2003) Stigma, social risk, and health policy: public attitudes toward HIV surveillance policies and the social construction of illness. Health Psychology 22 (5):533-540. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.22.5.533
- 7. Hinshaw SP, Cicchetti D (2000) Stigma and mental disorder: Conceptions of illness, public attitudes, personal disclosure, and social policy. Development and Psychopathology 12:555-598. doi:10.1017/S0954579400004028
- 8. Weiss MG, Ramakrishna J, Somma D (2006) Health-related stigma: Rethinking concepts and interventions. Psychology, Health and Medicine 11 (3):277-287. doi:10.1080/13548500600595053
- 9. Blumer H (1971) Social problems as collective behavior. Social Problems 18 (3):298-306. doi:10.1525/ sp.1971.18.3.03a00020
- 10. Becker HS (1973) Outsiders: Studies in the sociology of deviance. Free Press, New York
- 11. Herek GM (2007) Confronting sexual stigma and prejudice: Theory and practice. Journal of Social Issues 63 (4):905-925. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4560.2007.00544.x
- 12. Davis NJ (1972) Labeling theory in deviance research: A critique and reconsideration. Sociological Quarterly 13 (4):447-474. doi:10.1111/j.1533-8525.1972.tb00828.x
- 13. Lemert E (1979) Primary and secondary deviation. In: Kelly DH (ed) Deviant behavior: Readings in the sociology of deviance. St. Martin's Press, New York,
- 14. Parker R, Aggleton P (2003) HIV and AIDS-related stigma and discrimination: A conceptual framework and implications for action. Social Science & Medicine 57 (1):13-24. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00304-0
- 15. Herek GM (2004) Beyond "homophobia": Thinking about sexual prejudice and stigma in the twenty-first century. Sexuality Research & Social Policy 1 (2):6-24. doi:10.1525/srsp.2004.1.2.6

- Acevedo-Garcia D, Rosenfeld LE, Hardy E, McArdle N, Osypuk TL (2013)
   Future directions in research on institutional and interpersonal discrimination and children's health. American Journal Of Public Health. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300986
- 17. Eaton WW (1980) The sociology of mental disorders. Praeger, New York
- 18. Sibitz I, Unger A, Woppmann A, Zidek T, Amering M (2009) Stigma resistance in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Bulletin. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbp048
- 19. Thoits PA (2011) Resisting the stigma of mental illness. Social Psychology Quarterly 74 (1):6-28. doi:10.1177/0190272511398019
- 20. Erikson KT (1962) Notes on the sociology of deviance. Social Problems 9 (4):307-314. doi:10.2307/798544
- 21. Kitsuse JI (1968) Societal reaction to deviant behavior: Problems of theory and method. In: Spitzer SP, Denzin NK (eds) The mental patient: Studies in the sociology of deviance. McGraw-Hill, Toronto,
- 22. Lemert E (1951) Social pathology. McGraw-Hill, New York
- 23. Goffman E (1963) Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ
- 24. Scheff TJ (1966) Being mentally ill: A sociological theory. Aldine, Chicago
- 25. Link B, Phelan JC (2001) Conceptualizing stigma. Annual Review of Sociology 27:363-385. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.271.363
- 26. Deacon H (2006) Towards a sustainable theory of health-related stigma: Lessons from the HIV/AIDS literature. Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology 16:418-425. doi:10.1002/casp.900
- 27. Sayce L (1998) Stigma, discrimination and social exclusion: What's in a word? Journal of Mental Health 7 (4):331-343. doi:10.1080/09638239817932
- 28. Holley LC, Stromwall LK, Bashor KE (2012) Reconceptualizing stigma: Toward a critical anti-oppression paradigm. Stigma Research & Action 2 (2):51-61. doi:10.5463/SRA.v1i1.9
- 29. Pincus FL (1996) Discrimination comes in many forms: Individual, institutional, and structural. American Behavioral Scientist 40 (2):186-194. doi:10.1177/0002764296040002009
- 30. Jones JM (1997) Prejudice and racism. vol Book, Whole. McGraw-Hill, New York
- 31. Ickovics JR, White K, Stasko E, Toorjo G (2007) HIV-related stigma and discrimination in Asia: A review of human development consequences. UNDP Regional Centre in Colombo, New Haven, Connecticut
- 32. Pescosolido BA, Martin JK, Lang A, Olafsdottir S (2008) Rethinking theoretical approaches to stigma: A Framework Integrating Normative Influences on Stigma (FINIS). Social Science & Medicine 67 (3):431-440. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.018
- 33. Corrigan P, Kerr A, Knudsen L (2005) The stigma of mental illness: Explanatory models and methods for change. Appl Prev Psychol 11 (3):179-190. doi:10.1016/j.appsy.2005.07.001

- Hatzenbuehler ML, Phelan JC, Link BG (2013) Stigma as a fundamental cause of population health inequalities. American Journal of Public Health 103 (5):813-821. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.301069
- 35. Livingston JD, Boyd JE (2010) Correlates and consequences of internalized stigma for people living with mental illness: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Social Science & Medicine 71 (12):2150-2161. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.09.030
- 36. Courtwright AM (2009) Justice, stigma, and the new epidemiology of health disparities. Bioethics 23 (2):90-96. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8519.2008.00717.x
- 37. Link B (2001) Stigma: Many mechanisms require multifaceted responses. Epidemiologia e Psichiatria Sociale 10 (1):8-11. doi:10.1017/S1121189X00008484
- Courtwright A (2013) Stigmatization and public health ethics. Bioethics 27 (2):74-80. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8519.2011.01904.x
- 39. Henkel KE, Dovidio JF, Gaertner SL (2006) Institutional discrimination, individual racism, and Hurricane Katrina. Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy 6 (1):99-124. doi:10.1111/j.1530-2415.2006.00106.x
- 40. Teney C, Subramanian SV (2010) Attitudes toward homosexuals among youth in multiethnic Brussels. Cross-Cultural Research 44 (2):151-173. doi:10.1177/1069397109357136
- 41. Crocker J, Major B, Steele C (1998) Social stigma. In: Gilbert D, Fiske ST, Lindzey G (eds) The handbook of social psychology, vol 2. 4 edn. McGraw Hill, New York, pp 504-553
- 42. Suto M, Livingston JD, Hole R, Lapsley S, Hinshaw SP, Hale S, Michalak E (2012) Stigma shrinks my bubble: A qualitative study of understandings and experiences of stigma and bipolar disorder. Stigma Research & Action 2 (2):85-92. doi:10.5463/SRA.v1i1.14
- 43. Stuber J, Meyer I, Link B (2008) Stigma, prejudice, discrimination and health. Social Science & Medicine 67 (3):351-357. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.023
- 44. R. v. Gladue (1999). 1 S.C.R. 688,
- van Olphen J, Eliason MJ, Freudenberg N, Barnes M (2009) Nowhere to go: How stigma limits the options of female drug users after release from jail. Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy 4 (1). doi:10.1186/1747-597X-4-10
- 46. Smye V, Browne AJ, Varcoe C, Josewski V (2011) Harm reduction, methadone maintenance treatment and the root causes of health and social inequities: An intersectional lens in the Canadian context. Harm Reduction Journal 8 (1):17. doi:10.1186/1477-7517-8-17
- 47. Link B, Castille DM, Stuber J (2008) Stigma and coercion in the context of outpatient treatment for people with mental illnesses. Social Science & Medicine 67 (3):409-419. doi:doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.015
- 48. Corrigan PW, Thompson V, Lambert D, Sangster Y, Noel JG, Campbell J (2003) Perceptions of discrimination among persons with serious mental illness. Psychiatric Services 54 (8):1105-1110

- Collins PY, von Unger H, Armbrister A (2008) Church ladies, good girls, and locas: stigma and the intersection of gender, ethnicity, mental illness, and sexuality in relation to HIV risk. Social Science & Medicine 67 (3):389-397. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.013
- 50. Campbell C, Deacon H (2006) Unravelling the contexts of stigma: From internalisation to resistance to change. Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology 16:411-417. doi:10.1002/casp.901
- 51. Barnes C (1992) Institutional discrimination against disabled people and the campaign for anti-discrimination legislation. Critical Social Policy 12 (34):5-22. doi:10.1177/026101839201203401
- 52. Sayce L (2000) From psychiatric patient to citizen: Overcoming discrimination and social exclusion. St. Martin's Press, New York
- 53. Corrigan PW, Kerr A, Knudsen L (2005) The stigma of mental illness: Explanatory models and methods for change. Appl Prev Psychol 11 (3):179-190. doi:10.1016/j.appsy.2005.07.001
- 54. Corrigan P, Watson A, Heyrman M, Warpinski A, Gracia G, Slopen N, Hall L (2005) Structural stigma in state legislation. Psychiatric Services 56 (5):557-563. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.56.5.557
- 55. Herek GM, Gillis JR, Cogan JC (2009) Internalized stigma among sexual minority adults: Insights from a social psychological perspective. Journal of Counseling Psychology 56 (1):32-43
- 56. Stuart H, Arboleda-Florez J, Satorius N (2012) Paradigms lost: Fighting stigma and the lessons learned. Oxford University Press, Toronto
- 57. Link B, Phelan J (2006) Stigma and its public health implications. Lancet 367 (9509):528-529. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68184-1
- McCrudden C (1982) Institutional discrimination. Oxford Journal of Legal Studies 2 (3):303-367. doi:10.1093/ojls/2.3.303
- 59. UNAIDS (2000) Protocol for the identification of discrimination against people living with HIV. Author, Geneva, Switzerland
- 60. Beck M, Dietrich S, Matschinger H, Angermeyer MC (2003) Alcoholism: Low standing with the public? Attitudes towards spending financial resources on medical care and research on alcoholism. Alcohol and Alcoholism 38 (6):602-605. doi:10.1093/alcalc/agg120
- 61. Fischer R, Hanke K, Sibley CG (2012) Cultural and institutional determinants of social dominance orientation: A cross-cultural meta-analysis of 27 societies. Political Psychology 33 (4):437-467. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9221.2012.00884.x
- 62. Corrigan P, Markowitz F, Watson A (2004) Structural levels of mental illness stigma and discrimination. Schizophrenia Bulletin 30 (3):481-491. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007096
- 63. Hill RB (1989) Economic forces, structural discrimination and black family instability. Review of Black Political Economy 17 (3):5-23. doi:10.1007/BF02901099
- 64. Chan KY, Reidpath DD (2005) Methodological considerations in the measurement of institutional and structural forms of HIV discrimination. AIDS Care 17 (Suppl. 2):S205-S213. doi:10.1080/09540120500120211

- Blodorn A, O'Brien LT, Kordys J (2012) Responding to sex-based discrimination: Gender differences in perceived discrimination and implications for legal decision making. Group Processes Intergroup Relations 15 (3):409-424. doi:10.1177/1368430211427172
- 66. Corrigan PW, Lam C (2007) Challenging the structural discrimination of psychiatric disabilities: Lessons learned from the American Disability Committee. Rehabilitation Education 21 (1):53-58. doi:10.1891/088970107805059869
- 67. Yang LH, Kleinman A, Link BG, Phelan JC, Lee S, Good B (2007) Culture and stigma: Adding moral experience to stigma theory. Social Science & Medicine 64 (7):1524-1535. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.11.013
- 68. Schomerus G, Matschinger H, Angermeyer MC (2007) Familiarity with mental illness and approval of structural discrimination against psychiatric patients in Germany. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 195 (1):89-92. doi:10.1097/01.nmd.0000252314.45371.92
- 69. Herek GM (2011) Anti-equality marriage amendments and sexual stigma. Journal of Social issues 67 (2):413-426. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4560.2011.01705.x
- 70. Sparks v. Vancouver Coastal Health Authority and Vancouver Police Department (2006). BCHRT 575,
- 71. McGill University Health Centre (Montreal General Hospital) v. Syndicat des employés de l'Hôpital général de Montréal (2007). vol 161. SCR,
- 72. Hinshaw SP, Stier A (2008) Stigma as related to mental disorders. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology 4 (1):367-393. doi:10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.4.022007.141245
- 73. Dubois-Arber F, Haour-Knipe M, Discrimination work group (2001) HIV/AIDS institutional discrimination in Switzerland. Social Science & Medicine 52 (10):1525-1535. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(00)00266-5
- 74. Sringernyuang L, Thaweesit S, Nakapiew S (2005) A situational analysis of HIV/AIDS-related discrimination in Bangkok, Thailand. AIDS Care 17 (Suppl. 2):S165-S174. doi:10.1080/09540120500120161
- Lee S, Chiu MY, Tsang A, Chui H, Kleinman A (2006) Stigmatizing experience and structural discrimination associated with the treatment of schizophrenia in Hong Kong. Social Science & Medicine 62 (7):1685-1696. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.08.016
- 76. Kaiser HA (2013) Law and psychiatry in the age of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD). In: Bloom H, Schneider RD (eds) Law and mental disorder: A comprehensive and practical approach. Irwin Law, Toronto,
- 77. Sayce L (2003) Beyond good intentions. Making anti-discrimination strategies work. Disability & Society 18 (5):625-642. doi:10.1080/0968759032000097852
- 78. Lauber C, Nordt C, Sartorius N, Falcato L, Rossler W (2000) Public acceptance of restrictions on mentally ill people. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 102 (s407):26-32. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0447.2000.00005.x
- 79. Corrigan P, Markowitz F, Watson A, Rowan D, Kubiak M (2003) An attribution model of public discrimination towards persons with mental illness. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 44 (2):162-179. doi:10.2307/1519806
- 80. Schomerus G, Matschinger H, Angermeyer MC (2006) Preferences of the public regarding cutbacks in expenditure for patient care: Are there indications of discrimination against those with mental disorders? Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 41 (5):369-377. doi:10.1007/s00127-005-0029-8

- Thompson AH, Stuart H, Bland RC, Arboleda-Florez J, Warner R, Dickson RA, Sartorius N, Lopez-Ibor JJ, Stefanis CN, Wig NN (2002) Attitudes about schizophrenia from the pilot site of the WPA worldwide campaign against the stigma of schizophrenia. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 37 (10):475-482. doi:10.1007/s00127-002-0583-2
- 82. Sharac J, McCrone P, Clement S, Thornicroft G (2010) The economic impact of mental health stigma and discrimination: a systematic review. Epidemiologia e Psichiatria Sociale 19 (3):223-232. doi:10.1017/S1121189X00001159
- 83. Yang Y, Zhang KL, Chan KY, Reidpath DD (2005) Institutional and structural forms of HIV-related discrimination in health care: A study set in Beijing. AIDS Care 17 (Suppl. 2):S129-S140. doi:10.1080/09540120500119874
- 84. Hinshaw SP (2007) The mark of shame: Stigma of mental illness and an agenda for change. Oxford University Press, New York
- 85. Hemmens C, Miller M, Burton VS, Jr., Milner S (2002) The consequences of official labels: An examination of the rights lost by the mentally ill and mentally incompetent ten years later. Community Mental Health Journal 38 (2):129-140
- 86. Angermeyer MC, Schulze B, Dietrich S (2003) Courtesy stigma: A focus group study of relatives of schizophrenia patients. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 38 (10):593-602
- 87. Stuart H, Milev R, Koller M (2005) The Inventory of Stigmatizing Experiences: Its developments and reliability. World Psychiatry 4 (S1):33-37
- Angermeyer MC, Matschinger H (2004) The stereotype of schizophrenia and its impact on discrimination against people with schizophrenia: Results from a representative survey in Germany. Schizophrenia Bulletin 30 (4):1049-1061. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007120
- Cechnicki A, Angermeyer MC, Bielańska A (2011) Anticipated and experienced stigma among people with schizophrenia: Its nature and correlates. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 46 (7):643-650. doi:10.1007/s00127-010-0230-2
- 90. Schulze B, Angermeyer MC (2003) Subjective experiences of stigma. A focus group study of schizophrenic patients, their relatives and mental health professionals. Social Science & Medicine 56 (2):299-312. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00028-X
- 91. Muhlbauer S (2002) Experience of stigma by families with mentally ill members. Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association 8 (3):76-83. doi:10.1067/mpn.2002.125222
- 92. Harris J, McElrath K (2012) Methadone as social control: Institutionalized stigma and the prospect of recovery. Qualitative Health Research 22 (6):810-824. doi:10.1177/1049732311432718
- 93. Hunt P, Judith M (2006) Mental disabilities and the human right to the highest attainable standard of health. Human Rights Quarterly 28 (2):332-356. doi:10.1353/hrq.2006.0019
- 94. Schomerus G, Angermeyer MC (2008) Stigma and its impact on help-seeking for mental disorders: What do we know? Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences 17 (1):31-37. doi:10.1017/S1121189X00002669

- California Department of Mental Health (2009) California strategic plan on reducing mental health stigma and discrimination. http://calmhsa.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/11/CDMH\_MH\_Stigma\_Plan\_09\_V5.pdf. Accessed June 1 2013
- 96. Heflinger CA, Hinshaw SP (2010) Stigma in child and adolescent mental health services research: Understanding professional and institutional stigmatization of youth with mental health problems and their families. Administration and Policy in Mental Health 37 (1-2):61-70. doi:10.1007/s10488-010-0294-z
- 97. Angermeyer MC, Schulze B (2001) Reducing the stigma of schizophrenia: Understanding the process and options for interventions. Epidemiologia e Psichiatria Sociale 10 (1):1-5. doi:10.1017/S1121189X00008472
- 98. Répertorié: Gibbs v. Battlefords and Dist. Co-operative Ltd. (1996). CHRRD, vol 27. SCC,
- 99. Kelly BD (2006) The power gap: freedom, power and mental illness. Social Science & Medicine 63 (8):2118-2128. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.05.015
- 100. Lam RW, el-Guebaly N (1994) Research funding of psychiatric disorders in Canada: A snapshot, 1990-1991. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry 39 (3):141-146
- Pincus HA, Fine T (1992) The 'anatomy' of research funding of mental illness and addictive disorders. Archives of General Psychiatry 49 (7):573-579. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1992.01820070067010
- 102. Barchas JD, Elliott GR, Berger PA, Barchas PR, Solomon F (1985) The ultimate stigma: Inadequate funding for research on mental illness and addictive disorders. American Journal of Psychiatry 142 (7):838-839
- 103. Aoun S, Pennebaker D, Pascal R (2004) To what extent is health and medical research funding associated with the burden of disease in Australia? Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health 28 (1):80-86. doi:10.1111/j.1467-842X.2004.tb00637.x
- 104. Christensen H, Batterham PJ, Hickie IB, McGorry PD, Mitchell PB, Kulkarni J (2011) Funding for mental health research: The gap remains. Medical Journal of Australia 195 (11-12):681-644. doi:10.5694/mja10.11415
- 105. Chammartin N, Ogaranko C, Froese B (2011) Equality, dignity and inclusion: Legislation that enhances human rights for people living with mental illness. http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/document/5201/equalitydignity-and-inclusion-legislation-enhances-human-rights-people-living-mental-?terminitial=24.
- 106. Kaiser HA (2009) Canadian mental health law: The slow process of redirecting the ship of state. Health Law Journal 17:139-194
- 107. Wildeman S (2013) Protecting rights and building capacities: Challenges to global mental health policy in light of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics 41 (1):48-73. doi:10.1111/jlme.12005
- 108. Campbell TD (1994) Mental-health law Institutionalized discrimination. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 28 (4):554-559. doi:10.3109/00048679409080778
- 109. Livingston JD, Rossiter KR (2011) Stigma as perceived and experienced by people with mental illness who receive compulsory community treatment: A qualitative study. Stigma Research & Action 1 (2):1-8. doi:10.5463/SRA.v1i1.1

- 110. Swartz MS, Swanson JW, Hannon MJ (2003) Does fear of coercion keep people away from mental health treatment? Evidence from a survey of persons with schizophrenia and mental health professionals. Behavioral Sciences and the Law 21 (4):459-472. doi:10.1002/bsl.539
- 111. Dew K, Morgan S, Dowell A, McLeod D, Bushnell J, Collings S (2007) 'It puts things out of your control': Fear of consequences as a barrier to patient disclosure of mental health issues to general practitioners. Sociol Health III 29 (7):1059-1074. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9566.2007.01022.x
- 112. Corrigan PW, Roe D, Tsang HW (2011) Challenging the stigma of mental illness: Lessons for therapists and advocates. John Wiley & Sons, Malden, MA
- 113. Malachowski C, Kirsh B (2013) Workplace antistigma initiatives: A scoping study. Psychiatric Services 64 (7):694-702. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201200409
- 114. Stuart H (2006) Mental illness and employment discrimination. Current Opinion in Psychiatry 19 (5):522-526. doi:10.1097/01.yco.0000238482.27270.5d
- 115. Stuart H (2007) Employment equity and mental disability. Current Opinion in Psychiatry 20 (486-490). doi:10.1097/YCO.0b013e32826fb356
- 116. Corrigan PW, Roe D, Tsang HWH (2011) Addressing structural stigma. In: Corrigan PW, Roe D, Tsang HWH (eds) Challenging the stigma of mental illness: Lessons for therapists and advocates. Wiley-Blackwell, Malden, MA, Chichester, West Sussex, UK,
- 117. Thompson v. Selective Personnel (2009). vol 1224. HRTO,
- 118. Gichuru v. Law Society of British Columbia (2011). vol 185. BCHRT,
- 119. Bhui K, Shanahan L, Harding G (2006) Homelessness and mental illness: A literature review and a qualitative study of perceptions of the adequacy of care. International Journal of Social Psychiatry 52 (2):152-165. doi:10.1177/0020764006062096
- 120. Tanner v. Vlake (2003). vol 36. BCHRT,
- Schneider B, Ali J, Arney L, Benson G, Calderbank C, Misureli M, Mitchell M (2008) Housing for people living with schizophrenia: Dilemmas of care and control. http://callhome.ucalgary.ca/downloads/dilemmas.pdf. Accessed February 15 2009
- 122. Schneider B (2009) Housing people with mental illnesses: The discursive construction of worthiness. Housing, Theory and Society 27 (4):296-312. doi:10.1080/14036090903160059
- 123. Piat M (2000) The NIMBY phenomenon: Community residents' concerns about housing for deinstitutionalized people. Health & Social Work 25 (2):127-138. doi:10.1093/hsw/25.2.127
- 124. Melnychuk RM, Verdun-Jones SN, Brink J (2009) Geographic risk management: A spatial study of mentally disordered offenders discharged from forensic psychiatric care. International Journal of Forensic Mental Health 8 (3):148-168. doi:10.1080/14999010903358755
- 125. Metraux S, Caplan JM, Klugman D, Hadley TR (2007) Assessing residential segregation among medicaid recipients with psychiatric disability in Philadelphia. Journal of Community Psychology 35 (2):239-255. doi:10.1002/jcop.20145

- 126. Byrne T, Bettger J, Brusilovskiy E, Wong Y-LI, Metraux S, Salzer MS (2013) Comparing neighborhoods of adults with serious mental illness and of the general population: Research implications. Psychiatric Services. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201200365
- 127. Callard F, Sartorius N, Arboleda-Florez J, Bartlett P, Helmchen H, Stuart H, Taborda J, Thornicroft G (2012) Mental illness, discrimination and the law: Fighting for social justice. Wiley-Blackwell, West Sussex, UK. doi:10.1002/9781119945352
- 128. Leach LS, Butterworth P (2012) The effect of early onset common mental disorders on educational attainment in Australia. Psychiatry Research 199 (1):51-57. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2012.03.040
- 129. Breslau J, Lane M, Sampson N, Kessler RC (2008) Mental disorders and subsequent educational attainment in a US national sample. Journal of Psychiatry Research 42 (9):708-716. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2008.01.016
- 130. University of British Columbia v. Berg (1993). vol 18 C.H.R.R.D./310 (S.C.C.).
- Ontario Human Rights Commission (2012) Minds the matter: Report on the consultation on human rights, mental health and addictions. http://www.ohrc.on.ca/en/minds-matter-report-consultation-human-rights-mental-healthand-addictions. Accessed May 31 2013
- 132. Fazel S, Danesh J (2002) Serious mental disorder in 23,000 prisoners: A systematic review of 62 surveys. The Lancet 359 (9306):545-550. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07740-1
- 133. Dumont DM, Brockmann B, Dickman S, Alexander N, Rich JD (2013) Public health and the epidemic of incarceration. Annual Review of Public Health 33:325-339. doi:10.1146/annurev-pubhealth-031811-124614
- 134. Lurigio AJ (2011) People with serious mental illness in the criminal justice system: Causes, consequences, and correctives. The Prison Journal 91 (3):66-86. doi:10.1177/0032885511415226
- 135. Brink J, Livingston JD, Desmarais SL, Greaves C, Maxwell V, Parent R, Verdun-Jones S, Weaver C (2011) A study of how people with mental illness perceive and interact with the police. Mental Health Commission of Canada. http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/document/437/study-how-people-mental-illness-perceive-andinteract-police. Accessed July 24 2013
- 136. Smith M (2002) Stigma. Advances in Psychiatric Treatment 8 (5):317-323. doi:10.1192/apt.8.5.317
- 137. Lurigio AJ, Rollins A, Fallon J (2004) The effects of serious mental illness on offender reentry. Federal Probation 68 (2):45-52
- 138. Skeem J, Manchak S, Peterson J (2011) Correctional policy for offenders with mental illness: Creating a new paradigm for recidivism reduction. Law and Human Behavior 35 (2):110-126. doi:10.1007/s10979-010-9223-7
- 139. Black M, Downie J (2010) Watch your language: A review of the use of stigmatizing language by Canadian judges. Journal of Ethics in Mental Health 5 (1):1-8
- 140. Eno Louden J, Skeem JL (2012) How do probation officers assess and manage recidivism and violence risk for probationers with mental disorder? An experimental investigation. Law and Human Behavior. doi:10.1037/h0093991

- 141. Hansen LK (2007) Legislative discrimination against people with mental health problems. Psychiatric Bulletin 31 (1):33-35. doi:10.1192/pb.31.1.33-a
- 142. Bridge S (2011) Canadians with mental illnesses denied U.S. entry: Data entered into national police database accessible to American authorities. CBC News. http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/story/2011/09/08/f-border-mental-health-privacy.html. Accessed May 24 2013
- 143. Blais A, Massicotte L, Yoshinaka A (2001) Deciding who has the right to vote: A comparative analysis of election laws. Electoral Studies 20 (1):41-62. doi:10.1016/S0261-3794(99)00062-1
- 144. Elections Canada (2004) Persons with disabilities and Canada's electoral systems. http://www.elections.ca/res/eim/ article\_search/article.asp?id=15&lang=e&frmPageSize. Accessed May 24 2013
- 145. FRA-Eurpoean Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (2010) The right to political participation for persons with mental health problems and persons with intellectual disabilities. http://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra\_uploads/1216-Report-vote-disability\_EN.pdf. Accessed May 24 2013
- 146. Maxwell V (2013) Mental health parity or parody? Discrimination at its not so funniest. Crazy for life: Escapades of a bipolar princess. Psychology Today,
- 147. Hanes R (n.d.) None is still too many: An historical exploration of Canadian immigration legislation as it pertains to people with disabilities. http://www.ccdonline.ca/en/socialpolicy/access-inclusion/none-still-too-many. Accessed May 23 2013
- 148. Fairclough N (1995) Media discourse. Arnold, London
- 149. Bunis WK, Yancik A, Snow D (1996) The cultural patterning of sympathy toward the homeless and other victims of misfortune. Social Problems 43 (4):387-401. doi:10.1525/sp.1996.43.4.03x0147q
- 150. Corrigan P, Watson A, Gracia G, Slopen N, Rasinski K, Hall L (2005) Newspaper stories as measures of structural stigma. Psychiatric Services 56 (5):551-556. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.56.5.551
- 151. Holstein J, Miller G (1997) Introduction: Social problems as work. In: Miller G, Holstein J (eds) Social problems in everyday life: Studies of social problems work. JAI, Greenwich, CT, pp ix-xxi
- 152. Ruddick S (1996) Young and homeless in Hollywood: Mapping social identities. Routledge, London
- 153. Greenberg J, May T, Elliott C (2006) Homelessness and media activism in the voluntary sector: A case study. Philanthropist 20 (2):131-151
- 154. Sieff E (2003) Media frames of mental illnesses: The potential impact of negative frames. Journal of Mental Health 12 (3):259-269. doi:10.1080/0963823031000118249
- 155. Stout PA, Villegas J, Jennings NA (2004) Images of mental illness in the media: Identifying gaps in the research. Schizophrenia Bulletin 30 (3):543-561. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007099
- 156. Francis C, Pirkis J, Blood RW, Dunt D, Burgess P, Morley B, Stewart A, Putnis P (2004) The portrayal of mental health and illness in Australian non-fiction media. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 38 (7):541-546. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1614.2004.01407.x

- 157. Stuart H (2006) Media portrayal of mental illness and its treatments: What effect does it have on people with mental illness? CNS Drugs 20 (2):99-106. doi:10.2165/00023210-200620020-00002
- 158. Wahl OF (1992) Mass media images of mental illness: A review of the literature. Journal of Community Psychology 20 (4):343-352. doi:10.1002/1520-6629(199210)20:4<343::AID-JCOP2290200408>3.0.CO;2-2
- 159. Nairn RG (2007) Media portrayals of mental illness, or is it madness? A review. Australian Psychologist 42 (2):138-146. doi:10.1080/00050060701280623
- 160. Whitley R, Berry S (2013) Trends in newspaper coverage of mental illness in Canada: 2005-2010. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry 58 (2):107-112
- Day DM, Page S (1986) Portrayal of mental illness in Canadian newspapers. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry 31 (9):813-817
- 162. Matas M, el-Guebaly N, Harper D, Green M, Peterkin A (1986) Mental illness and the media: Part II. Content analysis of press coverage of mental health topics. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry 31 (5):431-433
- 163. Olstead R (2002) Contesting the text: Canadian media depictions of the conflation of mental illness and criminality. Sociology of Health & Illness 24 (5):621-643. doi:10.1111/1467-9566.00311
- 164. Kisely S, Denney J (2007) The portrayal of suicide and mental illness: A province-wide survey of Nova Scotia. Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health 26 (1):113-128
- Stuart H (2003) Stigma and the daily news: Evaluation of a newspaper intervention. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry 48 (10):651-656
- 166. Couldry N (2001) The place of media power: Pilgrims and witnesses of the electronic media age. Routledge, London
- 167. Hodgetts D, Chamberlain K, Scammell M, Karapu R, Nikora LW (2008) Constructing health news: Possibilities for a civic-oriented journalism. Health 12 (1):43-66. doi:10.1177/1363459307083697
- 168. Fischer BA (2012) Maltreatment of people with serious mental illness in the early 20th century: A focus on Nazi Germany and eugenics in America. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 200 (12):1096-1100. doi:10.1097/ NMD.0b013e318275d391
- 169. Jeffery D, Clement S, Corker E, Howard LM, Murray J, Thornicroft G (2013) Discrimination in relation to parenthood reported by community psychiatric service users in the UK: A framework analysis. BMC Psychiatry 13 (1). doi:10.1186/1471-244X-13-120
- Dolman C, Jones I, Howard L (2013) Pre-conception to parenting: A systematic review and meta-synthesis of the qualitative literature on motherhood for women with severe mental illness. Arch Womens Ment Health 16 (3):173-196. doi:10.1007/s00737-013-0336-0
- 171. Representative for Children and Youth (2012) Honouring Kaitlynne, Max and Cordon: Make their voices heard now. http://www.rcybc.ca/Images/PDFs/Reports/RCY-SchoenbornReportFINAL%20Feb%2027.pdf. Accessed May 24 2013

- 172. C. v. B.C. (Ministry of Children and Family Development) and another (2012). vol 95. BCHRT,
- 173. de Bruyn T (1998) HIV/AIDS and discrimination: A discussion paper. HIV/AIDS Legal Network and Canadian AIDS Society, Montreal
- 174. Sayce L, Measey L (1999) Strategies to reduce social exclusion for people with mental health problems. Psychiatric Bulletin 23 (2):65-67. doi:10.1192/pb.23.2.65
- 175. Livingston JD, Milne T, Fang ML, Amari E (2012) The effectiveness of interventions for reducing stigma related to substance use disorders: A systematic review. Addiction 107 (1):39-50. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03601.x
- 176. Heijnders M, Van Der Meij S (2006) The fight against stigma: An overview of stigma-reduction strategies and interventions. Psychology, Health and Medicine 11 (3):353-363. doi:10.1080/13548500600595327
- 177. Klawiter M (2004) Breast cancer in two regimes: The impact of social movements on illness experience. Sociology of Health & Illness 26 (6):845-874. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9566.2004.421\_1.x
- 178. Thornicroft G, Rose D, Kassam A (2007) Discrimination in health care against people with mental illness. International Review of Psychiatry 19 (2):113-122. doi:10.1080/09540260701278937
- 179. Cummings JR, Lucas SM, Druss BG (2013) Addressing public stigma and disparities among persons with mental illness: The role of federal policy. American Journal of Public Health 103 (5):781-785. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301224
- 180. Corrigan P, Larson J, Watson A, Boyle M, Barr L (2006) Solutions to discrimination in work and housing identified by people with mental illness. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 194 (9):716-718. doi:10.1097/01. nmd.0000235782.18977.de
- Pinfold V, Byrne P, Toulmin H (2005) Challenging stigma and discrimination in communities: A focus group study identifying UK mental health service users' main campaign priorities. International Journal of Social Psychiatry 51 (2):128-138. doi:10.1177/0020764005056760
- 182. Burris S (2006) Stigma and the law. Lancet 367 (9509):529-531. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68185-3
- 183. Arboleda-Flórez J, Stuart H (2012) From sin to science: Fighting the stigmatization of mental illnesses. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry 57 (8):457-463
- 184. Thornicroft G (2008) Stigma and discrimination limit access to mental health care. Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences 17 (1):14-19. doi:doi:10.1017/S1121189X00002621
- Cobigo V, Stuart H (2010) Social inclusion and mental health. Current Opinion in Psychiatry 23:453-457. doi:10.1097/ YCO.0b013e32833bb305
- 186. Elamon J (2005) A situational analysis of HIV/AIDS-related discrimination in Kerala, India. AIDS Care 17 (Suppl. 2):S141-S151. doi:10.1080/09540120500120070
- 187. Sayce L (2001) Social inclusion and mental health. Psychiatric Bulletin 25 (4):121-123. doi:10.1192/pb.25.4.121
- 188. Morgan C, Burns T, Fitzpatrick R, Pinfold V, Priebe S (2007) Social exclusion and mental health: Conceptual and methodological review. British Journal of Psychiatry 191 (6):477-483. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.106.034942

- Earnshaw VA, Bogart LM, Dovidio JF, Williams DR (2013) Stigma and racial/ethnic HIV disparities: Moving toward resilience. American Psychologist 68 (4):225-236. doi:10.1037/a0032705
- 190. Forbat L, Hubbard G, Kearney N (2009) Patient and public involvement: Models and muddles. Journal of Clinical Nursing 18 (18):2547-2554. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2008.02519.x
- 191. Tambuyzer E, Pieters G, Van Audenhove C (2011) Patient involvement in mental health care: One size does not fit all. Health Expectations. doi:10.1111/j.1369-7625.2011.00743.x
- 192. Livingston JD, Nijdam-Jones A, Lapsley S, Calderwood C, Brink J (2013) Supporting recovery by improving patient engagement in a forensic mental health hospital: Results from a demonstration project. Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association 19 (3):132-145. doi:10.1177/1078390313489730
- 193. Liberman RP, Kopelowicz A (2005) Recovery from schizophrenia: A concept in search of research. Psychiatric Services 56 (6):735-742. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.56.6.735
- 194. McGarvey EL, Leon-Verdin M, Wanchek TN, Bonnie RJ (2013) Decisions to initiate involuntary commitment: The role of intensive community services and other factors. Psychiatric Services 64 (2):120-126. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.000692012
- 195. Livingston JD, Nijdam-Jones A, Brink J (2012) A tale of two cultures: Examining patient-centered care in a forensic mental health hospital. Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology 23 (3):345-360. doi:10.1080/14789949.2012.668214
- 196. Clark W, Welch SN, Berry SH, Collentine AM, Collins R, Lebron D, Shearer AL (2013) California's historic effort to reduce the stigma of mental illness: The Mental Health Services Act. American Journal of Public Health 103 (5):786-794. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301225
- 197. Corrigan PW, Powell KJ, Michaels PJ (2013) The effects of news stories on the stigma of mental illness. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 21 (3):179-182. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3182848c24
- Job Accommodation Network JAN's Interactive Process Module. http://webcast.askjan.org/process/. Accessed July 23 2013
- 199. Loy B (2013) Employees with mental health impairments. Job Accommodation Network. http://askjan.org/media/psychiatric.html. Accessed July 23 2013
- 200. Scottish Association for Mental Health (2012) Making reasonable adjustments at work for people with mental health problems. http://www.samh.org.uk/media/296324/ras\_2012\_pink.pdf. Accessed July 23 2013
- 201. Frado LM (1993) Diversity works: Accommodations in the workplace for people with mental illness. Canadian Mental Health Association. http://www.cmha.ca/mental\_health/diversity-works-accommodations-in-the-workplacefor-people-with-mental-illness/#.UajuA2Q9BWY. Accessed July 23 2013
- 202. Ontario Human Rights Commission (n.d.) Human rights and rental housing in Ontario. http://www.ohrc.on.ca/en/learning/welcome. Accessed July 23 2013

- 203. Ontario Human Rights Commission (2012) In the zone: Housing, human rights and municipal planning. http://www.ohrc.on.ca/sites/default/files/In%20the% 20zone\_housing\_human%20rights%20and%20municipal%20planning\_0.pdf. Accessed July 23 2013
- 204. Sengupta S, Banks B, Jonas D, Miles MS, Smith GC (2011) HIV interventions to reduce HIV/AIDS stigma: A systematic review. AIDS and Behavior 15 (6):1075-1087. doi:10.1007/s10461-010-9847-0
- 205. Hatzenbuehler ML, McLaughlin KA, Keyes KM, Hasin DS (2010) The impact of institutional discrimination on psychiatric disorders in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: A prospective study. American Journal of Public Health 100 (3):452-459. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.168815
- 206. Schneider B, Livingston J, Misurelli M (2012) Using participatory action research to study stigma and to promote social change. Paper presented at the Together Against Stigma, Ottawa, Ontario,



Commission de la santé mentale du Canada

## Mental Health Commission of Canada

## Calgary Office

110 Quarry Park Blvd SE, Suite 320 Calgary, Alberta T2C 3G3

Tel: 403-255-5808 Fax: 403-385-4044

## Ottawa Office

100 Sparks Street, Suite 600 Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5B7

Tel: 613-683-3755 Fax: 613-798-2989

www.mentalhealthcommission.ca

